University of Louisville

ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

5-2024

A case study: The influence of professional development, administrative support, and co-planning on teacher perceptions of co-teaching.

Heidi Zimmerman University of Louisville

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.louisville.edu/etd

Part of the Accessibility Commons, Elementary Education and Teaching Commons, and the Special Education and Teaching Commons

Recommended Citation

Zimmerman, Heidi, "A case study: The influence of professional development, administrative support, and co-planning on teacher perceptions of co-teaching." (2024). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 4377.

https://doi.org/10.18297/etd/4377

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. This title appears here courtesy of the author, who has retained all other copyrights. For more information, please contact thinkir@louisville.edu.

A CASE STUDY: THE INFLUENCE OF PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT, ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT, AND CO-PLANNING ON TEACHER PERCEPTIONS OF CO-TEACHING

Heidi Zimmerman B.S., Bellarmine University, 2014 M.Ed., University of Mary Hardin Baylor, 2018

A Dissertation
Submitted to the Faculty of the
College of Education and Human Development of the
University of Louisville
in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements
for the Degree of

Doctor of Education in Educational Leadership and Organizational Development

Department of Educational Leadership, Evaluation, and Organizational Development University of Louisville Louisville, Kentucky

Copyright 2024 by Heidi Zimmerman

All Rights Reserved

A CASE STUDY: THE INFLUENCE OF PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT, AND CO-PLANNING ON TEACHER PERCEPTIONS OF CO-TEACHING

By

Heidi Zimmerman B.S., Bellarmine University, 2014 M.Ed., University of Mary Hardin Baylor, 2018

A Dissertation Approved on

April 16, 2024

by the following Dissertation Committee:

Dissertation Chair
Deborah Powers, Ed.D.
Douglas Stevens, Ed.D.
,
Rachel Yarborough, Ed.D.
<i>5</i> /
Rachel Baker, Ed.D.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to the remarkable individuals who have played pivotal roles in shaping my journey and supporting me every step of the way.

To my mother, Dr. Michele Zimmerman whose consistent dedication to education and dedicated pursuit of knowledge have been a guiding light in my life and educational journey. Your resilience, strength, and the example you've set as a woman and a mother with a PhD inspire me daily. Thank you for instilling in me the value of education and the importance of determination.

To my father, Kerry who has always encouraged his daughters to break through barriers. Your belief in our abilities has empowered me to challenge myself and strive for excellence. Thank you for your unwavering support and for teaching me to fearlessly pursue my dreams.

To my loving husband, Justin, whose continued support has been my rock throughout this journey. Thank you for being my pillar of strength, for taking care of our family needs, for bringing me iced coffee during long Saturday and Sunday study sessions, and for supporting me as we navigate the journey of starting our family of three together. You are going to make the most amazing father to Reeve.

To Dr. Boyd Gudgel, whose guidance, encouragement, and accountability have been invaluable throughout this process. Your mentorship has helped me stay focused and motivated, and I am grateful for your continued belief in my abilities.

To my dear friend and cohort companion, Brooke Noon, who has been a constant source of encouragement and positivity. Thank you for cheering me on, celebrating our successes together, and being a source of inspiration and camaraderie throughout this journey.

To all of my past students, whose resilience, determination, and unwavering strength have inspired me to pursue higher education and strive for excellence. Your perseverance in the face of challenges has served as a constant reminder of the transformative power of education. Thank you for teaching me valuable lessons both inside and outside the classroom and for being the driving force behind my academic journey.

And finally, to my dissertation chair, Dr. Powers, whose expertise, guidance, and unwavering support have been instrumental in bringing this dissertation to fruition.

Thank you for your invaluable feedback, patience, and dedication to helping me succeed!

ABSTRACT

A CASE STUDY: THE INFLUENCE OF PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT, AND CO-PLANNING ON TEACHER PERCEPTIONS OF CO-TEACHING

Heidi Zimmerman

April 16, 2024

This dissertation presents a case study methodology investigating the influence of professional development, administrator support, and co-planning on teacher perceptions of co-teaching. My interest in co-teaching increased as a former special education teacher after implementing co-teaching strategies in my own practice. As defined by the Kentucky Administrative Regulations, Collaboration means, a teacher of exceptional children works with children with disabilities in the regular classroom to provide specially designed instruction and related services (707 KAR 1:350, Section 2).

Oftentimes, Collaboration and Co-Teaching may be used interchangeably. For the purpose of this study the term Co-Teaching will be used throughout.

The goal of providing children with disabilities special education services in the most appropriate setting is to provide a Free and Appropriate Education (FAPE) that meets their identified needs. There are no defining guidelines of what is best for each student, hence the creation of an Individual Education Plan (IEP). The IEP outlines special education services that will be provided to the child, and how they will be implemented. For students with disabilities a co-teaching environment may be a common recommendation from the ARC. Some committee members may have the

predisposition to prefer co-teaching or be biased towards co-teaching. Teacher perceptions of co-teaching may subsequently impact this decision-making process.

Given IDEA's policy, this leads to an increasing number of students with disabilities being educated in the least restrictive environment. The perceptions of teachers implementing co-teaching strategies in their classrooms and its effectiveness may vary depending on their personal experience and the limited amount of research available that they have been exposed to. This research study addresses the problem of the need to determine teacher perceptions of co-teaching, allowing the field to improve successful co-teaching implementation and outcomes for students with disabilities.

The study utilized a qualitative approach, using semi-structured interviews to collect data from co-teachers in the Ohio Valley Education Cooperative region. The purpose of this study is to explore the ways in which these three factors influence co-teachers perceptions of co-teaching and to identify strategies for improving co-teaching practices. The study aims to provide insight into the importance of these factors in promoting successful co-teaching practices and offer recommendations for improving co-teaching initiatives in schools. With a clearer understanding of teacher perceptions of co-teaching strategies investigated, co-teachers, building administrators, and district administrators will have the knowledge needed to determine where biases may be relevant, additional professional development is needed, and address gaps in educators' knowledge of co-teaching to better serve the needs of students with disabilities.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	V
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF TABLES	XI
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Problem	2
Conceptual Framework	4
Purpose of the Study	7
Context of the Study	7
Research Questions	10
Significance of the Study	11
Limitations	12
Definition of Terms	13
Summary	17
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW	18
Purpose of Literature Review	18
History of Special Education.	19
Least Restrictive Environment	27
Teacher Perceptions of Co-Teaching	30
Shared Planning Time	30
Administrator Support	33
Co-Teaching Debate	35
Barriers of Co-Teaching	30

Co-Teaching Models	41
Co-Teaching Roles, Responsibilities, and Relationships	45
Teacher Perception and the Role in Teacher Effectiveness	47
Summary	47
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	49
Restatement of the Purpose	49
Restatement of Research Questions.	49
Theoretical Framework	50
Research Design and Rationale	52
Target Population, Participants, Sample, and Sampling Procedures	54
Consent Process.	54
Data Analysis	55
Strengths and Limitations	56
Context of the Study	57
Ethical Considerations.	59
Process for Exploring Researcher Positionality	62
Strategies for Ensuring Credibility, Transferability, and Dependability	65
Summary	67
CHAPTER IV: DATA ANALYSIS	68
Researcher Positionality	69
Data Collection and Analysis Overview	71
Participant Profiles	72
Findings from Thematic Analysis.	73
Summary	94

CHAPTER V: CONCLUSIONS IMPLICATIONS AND RECOIFUTURE RESEARCH	
Implications	95
Recommendations	104
Recommendations for Future Research	105
Conclusion	107
REFERENCES	108
APPENDIX A: INTERVIEW PROTOCOL	127
APPENDIX B: INFORMED CONSENT	130
CURRICULUM VITAE	135

LIST OF FIGURES

Elauma 1, IDIC CENTED I D	DE 2021	22
rigure 1: IKIS CENTER LR	RE, 2021	

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE

Table 1: School Districts individual percentage of the total population of students with an IEP educated in the general education classroom setting for 80% or more of the school day
Table 2: Percentage of students ages 6 to 21 years old, nationwide by their educational environment and type of disability: Fall 201829
Table 3: Demographics of Interview Participants
Table 4: Emergent Codes/ Themes
Table 5: Quotes from research question one and first-order coding: Theme of inclusion
Table 6: Quotes from research question one and second-order coding: Theme of inclusion
Table 7: Quotes from research question two and first order coding: Relationships and Empathy80
Table 8: Quotes from research question two and second-order coding: Relationships and Empathy
Table 9: Quotes from research question three and first order coding: Opportunity and Support
Table 10: Quotes from research question three and second-order coding: Opportunity and Support
Table 11: Quotes from research question four and first order coding: Collaboration and Trust
Table 12: Quotes from research question four and second order coding: Collaboration and

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

"This student needs to be placed in a special class. They are too far behind and cannot be successful in a regular education classroom (Anonymous Teacher, 2022)." As a former special education teacher, I have heard this statement from parents, administrators, and teachers when discussing a student's placement. We cannot educate our children in the most convenient way for teachers or parents, we must educate them in the way most beneficial for them, the students. Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) outlines provisions that children with disabilities should be educated in the least restrictive environment with their non-disabled peers to the maximum extent possible (IDEA, 2021).

IDEA states that children with disabilities should be educated with non-disabled children to the maximum extent possible. Children with disabilities should only be removed from a less restrictive environment when the extent and severity of their disabilities prohibit an appropriate education in the less restrictive general education setting (IDEA, 2021. This study has further explored the influence of professional development, administrator support, and co-planning time on the teacher perceptions of co-teaching.

The Admissions and Release Committee (ARC) must discuss the least restrictive environment (LRE) and as an ARC must come to a consensus regarding special education services and the location of those services.. This Admission and Release Committee, or ARC as typically called, is a school-based team that collaboratively makes

decisions for special education and related services for eligible students. The ARC also decides how those services will be provided. Decisions regarding evaluation, eligibility determination, placement, and special education services for an individual child are made by a team rather than by a single person (Kentucky Parent Guide for special education, 2021). Members of an ARC committee discuss options for determining the best placement for children with disabilities to most effectively meet their needs academically and social-emotionally. This study aims to better understand both special education and general education teacher perspectives of co-teaching.

Statement of the Problem

My interest in co-teaching increased as a former special education teacher after implementing co-teaching strategies in my own practice. Co-teaching is defined as a service delivery in which the student is served in the regular classroom and a special education teacher and regular education teacher collaborate to implement the child's IEP to provide instruction and access to the general education curriculum (Kentucky Parent Guide for special education, 2021). However, I encountered complications around implementing meaningful co-teaching strategies effectively because of limited shared planning time with my co-teaching counterparts, lack of ongoing professional development, and a lack of administrative support for this work. IDEA requires that students with a disability be educated in the general education classroom with their non-disabled peers to the fullest extent possible. However, the educators providing co-teaching strategies may not believe they are well equipped with the necessary training and resources to co-teach effectively, as I realized through my own experiences.

The phrase "to the most extent possible" may be subjective and could be interpreted differently. Historically, circuit court cases involving the least restrictive environment (LRE) have interpreted the LRE in various ways and with different court decision outcomes (Underwood, 2018). IDEA is the framework for federal policy decision-making regarding children with disabilities (Aldersley, 2002). When Congress decided to include the provisions of LRE as a component of IDEA, some saw it as a political act after opinions around special education grew increasingly intense in the 60s and 70s. As a result, the role of those in the judicial system became even more pertinent when interpreting the LRE clause. However, the intent was to no longer exclude children with disabilities from the same opportunities and experiences as non-disabled peers (Aldersley, 2002). The goal of providing children with disabilities special education services in the most appropriate setting is to provide a Free and Appropriate Education (FAPE) that meets their identified needs.

There are no defining guidelines of what is best for each student, hence the creation of an Individual Education Plan (IEP). An IEP is a plan written by the ARC which includes invitations to the parents to join the ARC team. The IEP outlines special education services that will be provided to the child, and how they will be implemented. It will include all programs and services needed to help the child be involved and make progress in the general curriculum (Kentucky Parent Guide for Special Education, 2021). Each decision is made on an individual basis of student needs. A committee, including regular education teachers and special education teachers, discusses student present levels of achievement that include areas of strength, areas of deficit, and performance data to attempt to make the best education decisions for each child on a case-by-case basis. For

many students, a co-teaching environment is a common recommendation from the ARC. Some committee members may have a predisposition that prefers co-teaching in the general education setting or vice versa. Teacher perceptions of co-teaching may subsequently impact this decision-making process.

The number of students identified as having a disability that impacts their learning increases yearly on a national level (Brinkman & Twiford, 2012). Given IDEA's policy, this leads to an increasing number of students with disabilities being educated in the least restrictive environment. The perceptions of teachers implementing co-teaching strategies in their classrooms and its effectiveness may vary depending on their personal experience and the limited amount of research available that they have been exposed to. However, more available research on co-teaching strategies, such as the six co-teaching models is becoming more available to educators (Friend, Cook, Hurley-Chamberlain, & Shamberger, 2010). This research study addresses the problem of the need to determine teacher perceptions of co-teaching allowing the field to improve successful co-teaching implementation and outcomes for students with disabilities.

Conceptual Framework: Theoretical Framework and Role Theory

Role Theory is the theoretical framework that guided this study. Role theory lays the foundation for studying and discussing social issues (Biddle, 1986). Primarily addressed by role theory is the perception that human beings behave in unique and predictable ways depending on their social identities and current social situation (Biddle, 1986). Biddle (1986) states that role theory may concern itself with a triad of concepts: patterned and characteristic social behaviors, parts or identities that social participants assume, and scripts or expectations for behavior understood by all. For this study, the

term role represents behavior, referring to a set of normative expectations associated with a position within an organization.

Role Theory encompasses specific frameworks within the overarching framework. One of those is Organizational Role Theory. Organizational Role Theory (OTR) is said to have originated within the work of Kahn (1964). ORT has been useful in this study because of the focus on the interests in the roles of formal organizations. Normative expectations within an organization are generated and may vary depending on the organization, official demands of each organization, and pressures of informal groups. The phenomenon of role transition within Organizational Role Theory connects to a general education teacher transitioning to upholding the roles and responsibilities of a co-teacher. Co-teaching teams expect that they are to collaborate to deliver instructional content while meeting the needs of a group of diverse learners (Pratt, 2014).

Cognitive Role Theory is another branch of Role Theory that emphasizes the relationships between role expectations and an individual's behavior (Biddle, 1986). Cognitive Role Theory suggests a direct impact and correlation between teacher expectations of student classroom behavior and achievement (Biddle, 1986). As discussed by Biddle (1986), some roles may reflect a cognitive process in combination with the normative expectations of a particular role. This suggests that an individual's thoughts about their role integrate with role theory, creating Cognitive Role Theory. Exploring teacher perceptions of co-teaching and being a co-teacher with diverse student ability levels is supported through a Cognitive Role Theory lens.

Critical Disability Theory

Critical disability theory refers to a diverse set of theoretical approaches. This work may also be referred to as "Critical Disability Studies" or CDS (Schalk, 2017). The goal of critical disability theory is to analyze disability as a cultural, historical, relative, social, and political occurrence. Critical disability theory involves the study of not bodily or mental limitations and impairments but the social norms that define specific attributes of being viewed as disabled and the social conditions that perpetuate stigmatized attributes that have been stigmatized in minority groups (Schalk, 2017). The theory of disability explores the identities of minorities and the belief that if their identities are thought disabled, consequently, there will be little hope for the political and social equality of minorities with these identities or disabled people (Siebers, 2021).

Through the framework of Role Theory and Critical Disability Theory this study has focused on the education of children with disabilities in two different learning environments. The first of the two learning environments is the co-teaching setting. Students with special education needs requiring supplemental aids and services and modifications are sometimes placed in general education classrooms. The students are often several grade levels below their classmates in reading and are in the class with little or no support (Battagila & Brooks, 2019).

Advantages of co-teaching are that some models allow groups of students to be broken up better to differentiate instruction into instructional groups with lower student-to-teacher ratios. Disadvantages are that implementation requires planning to maintain organization and increased classroom structure (Jackson, Willis, Giles, Lastrapes,

Mooney, 2017). Often, current educators have difficulty finding time to collaborate with the goal of effective co-planning.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study investigates teacher perceptions of co-teaching and the factors that may influence their perceptions of co-teaching at the elementary school level in grades kindergarten through five that lead to student success. Objectives of the purpose of this study are to determine successful practices, structures, preparation, and support systems that contribute to positive perceptions of successful co-teaching, including strategies practices with the intent of utilizing the findings to positively impact co-teaching at the elementary school level.

Context of the Study

The research has been conducted within the region of Kentucky supported by the Ohio Valley Education Cooperative (OVEC). OVEC serves 15 school districts within north central Kentucky and provides an avenue to support and facilitate regional planning, educational planning, and professional development to occur on an ongoing basis (OVEC, 2023). Although OVEC serves fifteen school districts in grades preschool through twelve, this study focused on elementary school teachers, general education and special education teachers within the OVEC region teaching in grades kindergarten through five. Within OVEC is an Exceptional Children Services (ECS) department. The OVEC ECS department aims to provide leadership and provide specialized training and supports in collaboration with the Kentucky Department of Education (KDE) and surrounding school districts (OVEC, 2023). One of the particular services provided to the

school districts supported by OVEC is training, coaching, and support on Co-Teaching strategies.

To provide an overview of the fifteen school districts within OVEC during the 2021-2022 school year each district ranged from having 10.90% students with an Individual Education Program (IEP) at Anchorage Independent School District to 17.50% of students having an IEP at Spencer County School District. The statewide average for the 2021-2022 school year was 16.00%. This study focused on teachers within the OVEC region and their perceptions of co-teaching specifically in the areas of professional development, administrator support, and co-planning. Students with disabilities that are provided special education services in the general education classroom through co-teaching are participating in the Least Restrictive Environment (LRE). Indicator 5A from KDE provides data on the percentage of students with an IEP serviced in the regular education classroom setting for 80% or more of their day. Below is a chart representing the percentage of students with an IEP in each of the 15 school districts within OVEC.

Table 1

Table 1 provides data from the 2021-2022 school year and the OVEC Region School Districts individual percentage of the total population of students with an IEP educated in the general education classroom setting for 80% or more of the school day during the 2021-2022 school year.

School District	More than >=80% in gen ed	
Anchorage Independent Schools	89.20%	
Bullitt County Schools	70.50%	

Carroll County Schools	81.80%	
Eminence Independent Schools	88.30%	
Franklin County Schools	83.20%	
Gallatin County Schools	85.60%	
Grant County Schools	83.30%	
Henry County Schools	84.30%	
Oldham County Schools	77.80%	
Owen County Schools	92.30%	
Shelby County Schools	83.20%	
Spencer County Schools	93.00%	
Trimble County Schools	87.00%	

Note: The percentages represent the percentage of total. District list by Indicator 5A: Inside the regular class 80% or more of the day.

Retrieved from:

https://kcewsreports.ky.gov/t/KCEWS/views/SpecialEducationIndicatorDashboardV2/1_Districts?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=

Table 1 Summary:

The state target has not been set for the 2021-2022 school year but ndividual districts within OVEC can be compared to the 2020-2021 school year state target of 75% of students educated within the regular education classroom for 80% or more of the school day. When compared to the 2020-20201 state target, all but one school district met the state target.

This case study identifies factors contributing to the success of an elementary school co-teaching models in grades kindergarten through five from the perceptions of

general education and special education teachers within the OVEC region. As a result, other schools within the region, surrounding education cooperatives in the state of Kentucky, and universities will be able to employ the knowledge gathered to enhance teacher preparation programs, replicate and implement successful strategies, and create professional development targeted to address areas of deficit.

Research Questions

There are four research questions that have guided this study. The first and second question focused on the perceptions of general education teachers and special education teachers within the OVEC region. The third question focused on what structures are currently in place within the school districts supported by OVEC that both general education and special education teachers believe have a contribution towards the success of co-teaching. The fourth and final question delved into the current perceptions of co-teachers and additional support or structures that may need to be in place to contribute to the success of co-teaching.

RQ 1: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?

RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?

RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what structures and supports currently in place do those involved in co-teaching believe contribute to the success of the co-teaching model?

RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional supports systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?

Procedures A case study is best defined as an intensive study of a single unit to better

understand a more extensive set of units (Gerring, 2004). A case study does not require any particular type of evidence (Yin, 1981). Case studies may be completed by using either qualitative or quantitative evidence. The research for this study will be conducted and analyzed through semi-structured interviews. A case study method has provided data to analyze from a combination of semi-structured interviews with current regular education teachers and current special education teachers. This particular study has been conducted as a case study because occured within the school districts part of the OVEC region in grades kindergarten through five. Teachers employed at school districts within OVEC have been offered and/or provided professional development in the area of coteaching strategies. For this study, I have conducted interviews with both general education and special education teachers in grades kindergarten through five currently

Significance of the Study

teaching within OVEC region and those that have participated in the co-teaching

professional developments provided by OVEC.

All students are expected to be prepared for their next level of learning and to have mastered the minimum graduation requirements over the course of their time in high school allowing for a successful transition to post-secondary life. However, not all students have the same starting position academically and socially. Those students classified as students requiring special education services often face challenged, both academically and socially, that require different ways of teaching and learning to acquire success. A literature search revealed the absence of research that investigates the least restrictive environment and factors that influence teacher perceptions of co-teaching special education students in a full co-teaching model. This study contributes to educators' and placement committee's knowledge when making informed decisions for children with disabilities to plan for their maximized success. Having completed this study with a case study methodology, co-teacher perceptions of co-teaching have assisted in determining additional supports and resources needed for effective implementation. Without the presence of solid evidence, educators and decision-makers would not have the ability to gauge the equity and reliability of the continuum of services now being delivered to develop effective educational reforms to the system for the improved education of children with disabilities (Aron & Loprest, 2012). Additionally, with a clearer understanding of teacher perceptions of co-teaching, district administrators will be employed with having the knowledge needed to determine where biases may be relevant, when more professional development is needed, and address gaps in educators' knowledge of co-teaching to better serve the needs of students with disabilities better.

Limitations of the Study

This study is limited in the sample size and location of the study. This study was completed within a single education cooperative in the north central region of Kentucky. Overall, there are a total of nine education cooperatives across the state of Kentucky and this study may not be reflective of all the education cooperatives. Due to the sample size of a single education cooperative through a case study methodology, the findings may not reflect a larger majority of the rest of the state of Kentucky. The sample size is small when compared to the overall population of the state, completed at one of nine education cooperatives in the state of Kentucky and was completed within a single state.

This study focused on teacher perceptions of co-teaching. In this case study, the experience, educational background, and prior knowledge of co-teaching may not be analogous to other elementary schools. Other schools or school districts may not solely implement these specific co-teaching strategies. This case study will be conducted with general education and special education teachers that have been provided professional development through OVEC on co-teaching strategies. Co-teaching strategies is a training focus of OVEC, and other surrounding education cooperatives may not provide the amount of professional development on co-teaching strategies or have the resources to provide these professional development opportunities.

Lastly, the teachers that interviewed on their perceptions of co-teaching were all voluntary. It is possible that teachers from each of the districts supported by OVEC may not choose to participate in interviews. However, the results of the study have been interpreted based on the OVEC region and therefore this study may limit applicability across the field.

Definition of Terms

Admission and Release Committee (ARC): means a group of individuals described in 707 KAR 1:320, Section 3, that is responsible for developing, reviewing, or revising an individual education program (IEP) for a child with a disability (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Collaboration/Co-teaching: means, for purposes of determining class size in 707 KAR 1:350, Section 2, a teacher of exceptional children works with children with disabilities in the regular classroom to provide specially-designed instruction and related services (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Consent: means: (a) A parent has been fully informed of all information relevant to the activity for which consent is sought, in his native language, or other mode of communication; (b) A parent understands and agrees in writing to the carrying out of the activity for which his consent is sought, and the consent describes the activity and lists the records, if any, that will be released and to whom; (c) A parent understands that the granting of consent is voluntary on the part of the parent and may be revoked at any time; and (d) If a parent revokes consent, that revocation does not negate an action that has occurred after the consent was given and before the consent was revoked (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Child with a disability: means a child evaluated in accordance with 707 KAR 1:300 as meeting the criteria listed in the definitions in this section for autism, deaf-blindness, developmental delay, emotional-behavior disability, hearing impairment, mental disability, multiple disabilities, orthopedic impairment, other health impairment, specific learning disability, speech or language impairment, traumatic brain injury, or

visual impairment which has an adverse effect on the child's educational performance and who, as a result, needs special education and related services (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008)

Disproportionality: Disproportionality refers to a group's representation in a particular category that exceeds expectations for that group of differs substantially from the representation of others in that category. Special education disproportionality is

referred to as the extent to which membership in which membership is given in a group affects the probability of being place in a specific disability category (National Association of School Psychologists, 2021)

Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE): means special education and related services that: (a) Are provided at public expense, under public supervision and direction, and without charge; (b) Meet the standards of the Kentucky Department of Education included in 707 KAR Chapter 1 and the Program of Studies, 704 KAR 3:303, as appropriate; (c) Include preschool, elementary school, or secondary school education in the state; and (d) Are provided in conformity with an individual education program (IEP) that meets the requirements of 707 KAR 1:320 (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Individual Education Program (IEP): means a written statement for a child with a disability that is developed, reviewed and revised in accordance with 707 KAR 1:320 (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA): "means the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. Section 1400 through 1450, as amended (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Least Restrictive Environment: In selecting the least restrictive environment, consideration shall be given to any potential harmful effects on the child or on the quality of services that he needs. A child with a disability shall not be removed from education in age-appropriate regular classrooms solely because of needed modifications in the general curriculum. In providing or arranging for the provision of nonacademic and extracurricular services and activities, an LEA shall ensure that a child with a disability participates with nondisabled children in those services and activities to the maximum extent appropriate to the needs of the child (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Resource Class: children with disabilities assigned to a teacher of exceptional children per period, block, or the specified length of time set by the individual school (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Self-contained or Special Class: children with disabilities assigned to a teacher of exceptional children for the purpose of providing individualized specially designed instruction and related services in a special class setting (Kentucky Administrative

Regulations, 2008).

Special Education: Specially designed instruction, at no cost to the parents, to meet the unique needs of the child with a disability, including instruction in the classroom, in the home, in hospitals and institutions, and in other settings. Special education means speech-language pathology services (if the service is considered special education rather than a related service), travel training, and vocational education. (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008)

Specially Designed Instruction (SDI): " means adapting as appropriate the content, methodology, or delivery of instruction to address the unique needs of the child

with a disability and to ensure access of the child to the general curriculum included in the Program of Studies, 704 KAR 3:303 (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Supplementary aids and services (SAS): means aids, services, and other supports that are provided in regular education classes or other education-related settings to enable a child with disabilities to be educated with nondisabled children to the maximum extent appropriate in accordance with 707 KAR 1:350 (Kentucky Administrative Regulations, 2008).

Organization of the Study

This study has been divided into five separate and purposeful chapters. The first chapter of the study includes the purpose, research questions, definitions of terms, statement of the problem, and study's limitations. The second chapter of the study reviews the literature regarding teachers' perceptions of co-teaching, administrator influence on effectiveness towards co-teaching success, shared planning time amongst co-teachers, relevant court cases, co-teaching models, and current data and trends regarding special education services provided along the continuum. The third chapter includes the methodology of the study, participants in the study, means of data collection, and the following method of analysis. The fourth chapter provides the study's research findings and identified themes as a result of the analysis. The fifth chapter is a detailed discussion of research findings and implications for further research.

Summary

This study further extend prior research on teacher perceptions of co-teaching but through a case study methodology. Our schools today face the large responsibility to not only meet the given requirement of ESSA and IDEA but to be held accountable for

ensuring students with disabilities have access to the general education curriculum (e.g., Cook, 2004; Friend 2008). The completion of this study with a case study methodology, teacher perceptions of co-teaching has assisted in determining additional supports and resources needed for effective implementation. The educational opportunities of students with disabilities are increased through access to the general education curriculum provided through co-teaching (e.g., Cook, 2004; Friend, 2008). The findings of this study have assisted in further support for students with disabilities.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Purpose of Literature Review

This section aims to explore the influence of professional development, administrator support, and co-planning on teacher perceptions of co-teaching. The history of special education policy at the federal and state level has a significant impact on how special education students are provided services and specially designed instruction as it drives the current reality of the least restrictive environment and teacher perceptions of co-teaching. The inclusion of students with disabilities in an educational setting has been more widely promoted in the recent past than in any other time in the history of public education. As a result, many students with disabilities receive most, if not all of their special education services in general education classrooms (Mastropieri & Scruggs, 2001). The following literature review includes the progression of opportunities for successor students with disabilities regarding their education in the least restrictive environment with their non-disabled peers and factors that may influence this, such as administrator support of co-teaching and professional development provided by co-teachers.

One of the defining principles of IDEA is the requirement to provide students receiving special education services in the least restrictive environment (Underwood, 2018). Additional relevant court cases that promoted legislation and policy-making decisions at the federal and state levels will align with the decision-making processes and

history of advocating for the needs of students with disabilities. In Chapter II, I will review previous court cases, their outcomes, and how these outcomes impacted opportunities for students with disabilities. This study explored professional development prior to co-teaching implementation, during co-teaching implementation, and post-implementation of co-teaching. Teacher perceptions of co-teaching review shared planning time and available resources for the general education teacher and special education teacher. The six models of co-teaching reviewed in this section and the relation to how co-teaching roles and responsibilities influence teacher perceptions of co-teaching.

History of Special Education: Education for All Handicapped Children Act and Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (1975)

The Education for All Handicapped Children requires states to provide a Free and Appropriate Education (FAPE) to any child with a disability between the ages of three to twenty-one. All students with disabilities are entitled to a free appropriate public education (FAPE) under the provisions of the Individuals with Disability Education Act (IDEA) (707 KAR Chapter 1, 2021). This act defined handicapped children as any child requiring special education or related services (Enforcing the Right to an "Appropriate" Education: The Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, 1979). The Education for All Handicapped Act was the most comprehensive legislative policy that provided federal funding assistance to states to ensure FAPE for children with disabilities (Harrison, 1981). The Education for All Handicapped Act represents the continued evolution of national responsibility and commitment to providing equal educational opportunities to children (Ballard & Zettell, 1979).

PL 94-142 was an initiative that set minimum standards required for states and local education agencies regarding the education provided to disabled children (Aron & Loprest, 2012). Additionally, states received monetary incentives to meet the standards set by EHA (State Response to the Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, 1985). The Education for All Handicapped Children Act aimed to allow autonomy at the state and local levels in decision-making processes. This was done to decentralize policy-making decisions at the federal level (State Response to the Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, 1985). General requirements are outlined for the states, however, specific programs for the education of handicapped children are not required by the act.

EHA did include language and guidelines set forth to protect the free and appropriate education of handicapped children. EHA had the requirement that handicapped children be educated to the maximum extent possible with their non-disabled peers (Enforcing the Right to an "Appropriate" Education: The Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, 1979). Before this requirement, disabled students were excluded from being educated with their general education peers. Prior to the implication of EHA, states, including North Carolina and Nevada, did not require handicapped children to attend public schools.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) 1975

A child with a disability prior to 1975 was fully excluded from receiving an education in public schools (Bradley, Katsiyannis, & Yell, 2001). IDEA is a law that requires free and appropriate public education (FAPE) for all children with disabilities (IDEA, 2021). IDEA ensures that any child with special education needs is provided with

special education services and related services to meet the individual needs of their disability (IDEA, 2021). Additionally, IDEA assures that children with disabilities are given early intervention through the regulation of state and government agencies.

Covered in IDEA part B, children from birth to age two are provided with early intervention strategies. Regulated in IDEA part C, children with disabilities ages three up to 21 are provided special education and related services (IDEA, 2021).

In 1996, the number of students attending public schools receiving special education services increased from 8% to 11% in the United States (Terman et al., 1996). At that time, the number of students who meet eligibility for special education services was expected to continue to rise.

Identification of students who are not yet receiving special education services is an additional provision of IDEA. Every Local Education Agency (LEA) has the responsibility of ensuring that all children with disabilities within their boundaries are identified and evaluated (Ramirez, 1998). This applies to public and private school students. If an Admission Review Committee (ARC) including the child's parent suggests or agrees to an evaluation, then an evaluation must occur in all suspected disability areas. Section 350 of IDEA requires that every child with a disability be provided an Individual Education Plan (IEP) and related services that pertain to the disability; it does not require that any person is held accountable if the child does not meet their projected growth for their IEP goals (Ramirez, 1998).

Each student receiving special education services and their placement in a Least Restrictive Environment (LRE) is decided upon by the Admissions Review Committee (ARC). IDEA requires that school districts provide a continuum of the least restrictive

education options to the most restrictive education options (IRIS Center, 2021). As required by IDEA, students must be educated in the least restrictive environment with their non-disabled peers to the maximum extent possible. To educate students in the general education setting in the least restrictive setting, supplementary aids and services must be provided to allow that student to participate to the greatest extent available, as required by IDEA. Placement options are, however, fluid. Once a student is placed in a more restrictive setting or less restrictive, changes can be made with factors taken into consideration, such as student needs and progress (IRIS Center, 2021). Below is a visual representation of the continuum of services.

Least Restrictive

Most Restrictive

Special Education Classroom

Special School Homebound Residential Facility

(IRIS Center, 2021) https://iris.peabody.vanderbilt.edu/

No Child Left Behind (NCLB) (2001)

The No Child Left Behind Act required that students with disabilities be educated in the least restrictive environment with their non-disabled peers to the maximum extent possible. However, the No Child Left Behind Act was innovative compared to previous legislation requiring that these students be taught by highly qualified teachers (NCLB, 2001). No Child Left Behind was significant for students with disabilities and special education teachers by outlining the requirements for obtaining highly qualified teacher

status. Additionally, accountability of all students was highlighted in No Child Left Behind. Assessment data was now required to be analyzed to track student progress over several years (Sclafani, 2002). This policy required that states monitor the progress of subpopulations within their school buildings.

The year 2015 proved to be a significant year for education. On December 15, the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA) was reauthorized, now known as Every Student Succeeds Act. ESEA was created as a component of President Lyndon B. Johnson's "War on Poverty" (McLaughlin, 1975). ESEA outlined a commitment for all students to have equal access to a quality education. Title I was a provision outlined in ESEA which distributed funds to schools and school districts serving a high percentage of students coming from low-income families (Jeffrey, 1978). This outlined a commitment to the success of all students. In 2015, ESEA was reauthorized by President Obama as Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA). ESSA continued the provisions to ensure the success of all students and all schools and offered flexibility to the states. For states to qualify for this flexibility, career ready standards and assessment and school accountability programs that focused on the largest achievement gaps must be implemented (U.S. Department of Education, n.d.) One of those provisions strongly correlates to the needs of students with disabilities. ESSA aims to advance equity by enforcing and upholding critical protections for disadvantaged and high-needs students (ESSA, 2020).

Additionally, ESSA requires that all students, regardless of whether they have a disability, must be held to a high standard that prepares them to become college and career-ready (ESSA, 2020). This is significant due to the component of IDEA that

requires students with disabilities to be educated in the least restrictive environment with their non-disabled peers to the maximum extent possible. Direct correlations can be seen between IDEA expectations and ESSA expectations by requiring students with disabilities to be held to the same standards as their non-disabled peers to prepare them for post-secondary success.

History of Litigation

Throughout history, several court cases have ultimately impacted special education law. The significance of these court cases is reflected within IDEA. This section reviews relevant court cases, and their results are connected to current practices around special education. The court case ruling below moved schools towards more inclusive practices. In a review of court cases involving least restrictive environments, Underwood discovered that litigation outcomes and interpretations all preferred placement in the regular education classroom and educational benefit to the student (Underwood, 2018).

Plessy v. Ferguson

The Plessy ruling permitted states' actions that required physical separation of persons by race (Davis, 2021). Plessy v. Ferguson (1896) ruled separate yet equal, recognizing that African American students learning in segregated schools were denied their constitutional rights. The rationale of the courts in its Plessy decision reached exponentially beyond a black-and-white racial composition to encompass a range of legal relations that had been attached to the personal identity of African Americans (Davis, 2021). Brown v. Board of Education (1954) did not directly overturn the ruling of Plessy; the ruling of Brown vs. Board of Education rejected the principle of "separate but

equal" from Plessy in 1896 (Powell, 2021). As a result of Brown vs. Board of Education, the separation of education facilities by race was no longer permitted. African American students would no longer attend state-mandated segregated schools.

Consequently, these same students who previously attended segregated schools are not protected from discrimination within the school walls and are exposed to discrimination from their teachers and peers (Cunningham, Francois, & Trask-Tate, 2014). Brown vs. Board of Education is significant for students with disabilities because this case signified the first-time segregation in schools was first addressed and the right to an education. The outcome of Brown vs. Board of Education set a precedent for the right to an education on behalf of students with disabilities for the first time in 1954.

Pennsylvania Association for Retarded Citizens (PARC) v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

In 1972 the Pennsylvania Association for Retarded Citizens (PARC) v.

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania established that deprivation of education for students with disabilities was a violation of their rights. It was established that this was a violation of the rights of students with disabilities under the fourteenth amendment (Gamson, McDermott, Reed, 2015). Ultimately, their rights to a Free and Appropriate Education (FAPE) were violated. The rights of students with disabilities were strongly advocated for by PARC v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, resulting in an agreement to provide special education students an education in the general education setting. This court ruling supported parents of students with disabilities who had advocated for their child's rights and were excluded from being educated with their non-disabled peers

(Borthwick-Duffy, Palmer, Lane, 1996). Additionally, this required that an Individual Education Program (IEP) be developed to support a student receiving special education services in the general education classroom setting with a clear plan for goals to meet their needs in order to make academic progress in their educational setting (Gamson et al., 2015). PARC v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania was the first major legal case to provide equality to students with disabilities in public education.

Mills v. Board of Education of District of Columbia

That same year, furthering the advocacy of students with disabilities occurred with the rulings of Mills V. Board of Education of District of Columbia. Mills vs. Board of Education advocated on behalf of seven school-age children who had been denied placement in a public education program for extended periods due to the student's mental, behavioral, physical, or emotional disabilities. The plaintiffs in Mills vs. Board of Education sought restitution because they had been denied the right to Due Process (Stewart, 2022). The lawsuit reinforced the need for schools to provide a free, appropriate public education for all students. It is a mandate to provide a free, appropriate public education for all students regardless of their disability and prevalent behavioral needs (Yudof, 1984). Equal protection and due process were interpreted by lower federal courts and the subsections of the Fourteenth Amendment that required public school decision-makers to admit students with disabilities that had been previously excluded and to provide these students with hearings and review procedures upon any change in their educational placement (Yudof, 1984).

Least Restrictive Environment: Current Statistics of LRE

The current nationwide statistics of Least Restrictive Environment (LRE) are important to consider in the context of conducting research on teacher perspectives of coteaching because they provide a broader understanding of how special education services are delivered in schools. According to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), students with disabilities must be educated in the LRE that is most appropriate for their needs (U.S. Department of Education, 2018). In recent years, there has been a trend towards including more students with disabilities in general education classrooms through co-teaching (Murawski & Dieker, 2014).

Research on teacher perspectives of co-teaching can shed light on how well co-teaching is working to meet the needs of students with disabilities in the general education classroom. This is particularly important because while co-teaching has been widely implemented, there is still a lack of consensus on best practices and how to effectively implement co-teaching (Friend & Cook, 2013). Teacher perspectives can provide valuable insight into the benefits and challenges of co-teaching, as well as recommendations for improving co-teaching practices.

The data in the table below is a current summary of the statistics on Least Restrictive Environment (LRE). The data does not include students in a separate school, residential facility, private school, homebound/hospital placement, or correctional facility. Students in those settings collectively make up 4.90% of all students with disabilities. Students educated in the general education classroom setting for more than 80% of their school day make up the majority of students with disabilities at 64%. 48.50% of students eligible under an Intellectual Disability are educated in the general education classroom setting for less than 40% of their school day. This was the

most significant percentage when compared to all other eligibility areas. For a student to meet eligibility for an Intellectual Disability, they must have a significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning, existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior. This deficit manifests during the child's developmental stages and has an adverse impact on the child's educational performance (Individuals with Disabilities

Education Act, 2018). Students meeting eligibility for a Speech Language Impairment were educated in the general education classroom the most, at 87.80% compared to all other disabilities. Following Speech Language Impairment are students eligible under Specific Learning Disability at 72.20%, and Other Health Impairment at 67.30%. A student in 2018 whose eligibility was Multiple Disabilities was least likely at 14.20% to be educated in the general education classroom for 80% or more of their day. To meet eligibility for Multiple Disabilities, a child must have a combination of two or more disabilities. The combination of two or more disabilities results in severe educational needs (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 2018).

Table 2

Percentage of students ages 6 to 21 years old, nationwide by their educational environment and type of disability: Fall 2018

Disability Category	Less than 40%	40-79%	80% or more
All students with disabilities	13.1	18.0	64.0
Autism	33.20	18.50	40.00
Deaf-blindness	35.70	12.60	25.70
Developmental Delay	14.40	18.50	65.60
		20	

17.20	17.40	49.60
10.50	14.70	63.30
48.50	27.50	17.30
44.90	17.60	14.20
22.10	15.60	54.30
8.50	20.20	67.30
4.60	21.40	72.20
3.90	4.60	87.80
19.70	21.50	51.00
8.90	12.40	68.20
	10.50 48.50 44.90 22.10 8.50 4.60 3.90	10.50 14.70 48.50 27.50 44.90 17.60 22.10 15.60 8.50 20.20 4.60 21.40 3.90 4.60 19.70 21.50

Note: Data are for the 50 states and the District of Columbia only. Includes fall 2015 data for 6- to 21-year-olds in Wisconsin because fall 2018 data were not available for children served in Wisconsin. Detail may not sum to totals because of rounding. *Retrieved from: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.*

(2021). Digest of Education Statistics, 2019 (NCES 2021-009), <u>Table 204.60</u>.

Teacher Perceptions of Co-Teaching

The last century has proved to be paramount for the rights of students with a disability. The fight for students with disabilities has transformed from being excluded of being provided with an education to the fight for full inclusion within a co-teaching

setting (Gordon, 2006). Co-Teaching is defined as a service delivery in which the student with disabilities is educated in the regular classroom, and a special education teacher and regular education teacher collaborate to implement the IEP and provide instruction and access to the general education curriculum (Kentucky Parent Guide for Special Education, 2021). The perception of teachers providing co-teaching services to students with disabilities is increasingly important to understand because the competing themes of access versus accountability continue to be part of the debate around co-teaching (Gordon, 2006).

Shared Planning Time

Shared planning time can be defined as a daily or regular predetermined time in which the regular and special education teacher collaborate. During co-planning time, they may plan for ways in which to integrate the curriculum, develop lesson plans, plan for implementing specially designed instruction (SDI), grade assessments, or reflect on current instructional approaches (Mertens, Flowers, Anfara, Caskey, 2010). According to Mertens et. al. (2010), teachers that collaborate and engage in shared planning time have reported statistically higher levels of classroom practices that correlates to higher levels of student performance.

An adequate amount of time to meet expectations is rare for any educator.

Planning time is the biggest obstacle for many educators intending to effectively implement co-teaching (Dieker, 2001; Keefe & Moore, 2004). As a natural result, teacher perceptions of co-teaching may be heavily influenced by their shared planning time. Teachers often do not believe they have adequate time to plan. Co-teaching requires that both the general education teacher and special education teacher share

responsibilities. One of those shared responsibilities is planning. With this, a shared planning time must occur for the most effective planning. Shared planning time for effective co-teaching utilizes the time to plan for a wide variety of skills/knowledge, formative and summative assessments given, and provide an inclusive learning environment for students with disabilities (Andrews & Harpell, 2012).

Requiring special education teachers and general education teachers to meet additional expectations during a shared planning time may impact their perceptions of coteaching either negatively or positively depending on the effectiveness of their shared planning time.

School leadership teams need to consider scheduled planning periods for coteachers (Walther-Thomas, Bryant & Land, 1996). Planning is defined as an intentional time with a purpose for two educators to collaborate and work together to accomplish educational objectives for students in their classroom (Battaglia & Brooks, 2019). Intentionality of scheduling should allow co-teachers common planning periods that allow them to have the opportunity to plan to meet the needs of both the general education students and special education students in their classroom. The special education teacher and general education teacher each bring their own individual expertise to the planning table. Reported by Mastropieri et. al. (2005), the content knowledge brought by the special education teacher has a substantial impact on the effectiveness and outcomes of co-teaching. Common planning time allows them to effectively co-plan to meet the objectives of students with their own expertise.

Available research suggest that co-teachers require a minimum of one hour per week to effectively plan for co-teaching instruction (Walther-Thomas, 1997). During this

planning time, co-teachers can discuss and establish common appropriate expectations for their classroom, problem-solve foreseeable concerns and current issues, and work out the more technical aspects of co-teaching such as roles and responsibilities. Teachers with a shared planning time reported increased levels of a positive perception of their work environment and a higher perception of teacher efficacy (Mertens et. al., 2010).

Ideally, co-teachers will collaborate using their district curriculum guidelines as a structure for planning lessons for instructional unit plans, weekly plans, and daily lessons that they co-develop. To legally meet student' educational needs as outlined in their Individual Education Plans, co-teachers will look for commonalities between standards required to be taught at each grade level and the IEP goals of identified students through intentional and methodical co-planning (Battaglia & Brooks, 2019). For example, the result of this co-planning may find a student with a specific learning disability in written expression being provided with graphic organizers that relate to the writing task given, pre-taught vocabulary words in a small group, and specially designed instruction in the use of sentence structure provided through one of the co-teaching models that reduce the student to teacher ratio (Andrews & Harpell, 2012)

Co-teachers that have students with Individualized Education Plans in their classroom that include accommodations and modifications must have time for operational planning built into their daily schedule. Without a common planning time and the appropriate amount of uninterrupted planning time, co-teachers may not be adequately prepared to implement effective co-teaching practices to meet the needs of their students.

Administrator Support

Administrator support can play a prominent role in the effectiveness of the implementation of co-teaching and the staff mindset towards a more inclusive environment. The support from administrators is a key component for the success and implementation of co-teaching. The leadership provided by administrators can assist in ensuring that the required supports are available to make co-teaching successful (Walther-Thomas, 1997). Administrator advocacy for the inclusion of students with disabilities can begin with educating the staff in their building (Bateman & Bateman, 2014). Staff may have a misconception or a different perspective on the purpose and the why behind co-teaching. By educating the entire staff, the faculty of the building then share the same understanding of the purpose of co-teaching. The involvement of administrators can play an active role in the planning and implementation of successful co-teaching (Phillips & McCullough, 1990). Administrators, particularly principals, can take pivotal steps to lead toward a more inclusive, friendly school environment.

A second role for administrators is to ensure that supplementary aids and services are available to students with disabilities (Bateman & Bateman, 2014). Students with a disability are afforded the right to have the accommodations provided to participate in the general education classroom setting. Each IEP outlines accommodations and modifications that must be provided to ensure individual student success. A misconception often may occur that only the special education teacher is responsible for providing these accommodations. However, it is the responsibility of the special education teacher and general education teacher to provide these accommodations to any student with a disability (Gordon, 2006).

Many education leaders themselves, have not had the personal experience of coteaching (Murwaski & Lochner, 2011). When implementing co-teaching practices, it is imperative for the administrators in the school to also be trained. Administrators also need to remain current in their knowledge through participating in co-teaching professional developments, either prior to the teachers or alongside the teachers. By doing this, administrators will be more aware of the demands placed on co-teachers and the necessary skills both co-teachers will need to effectively implement co-teaching models in their classrooms (Nierengarten, 2013). The knowledge of the school administrators of the co-teaching models is also important when evaluating co-teaching pairs. The administrator should fully understand the variety of co-teaching models and be able to have a deeper understanding of what is occurring in the classroom (Murawski & Lochner, 2011) Finally, administrators need to have a deeper understanding of co-teaching to provide the entire staff with a clear vision and appropriately support the general education and special education teachers that are co-teachers.

Lastly, administrator support demonstrating their commitment to co-teaching will provide the critical foundation needed to lead a school towards an inclusive environment and positively influence teacher perceptions of co-teaching. The administrators have their roles and responsibilities related to co-teaching, and by supporting the vision of the school, they will be able to proactively address concerns related to co-teaching as they arise, foresee any possible issues, and engage in effective decision making for advocacy of students with disabilities (Nierengarten, 2013). The role of the administrator in developing co-teaching practices and their contributions toward teacher perceptions of co-teaching is imperative in guiding staff toward a democratic based decision-making

model that advocates for the inclusion of students with disabilities and decisions made are consistent with the school's overall vision and philosophy (Scheffel et al., 1996).

Co-Teaching Debate

In Kentucky, the preferred terms to utilize are collaboration and coteaching. However, other school districts in the United States may use terms such as team teaching or inclusion. "Collaborative teaching" is the preferred umbrella term for the combined efforts of two certified teachers in a general education classroom setting with different areas of expertise (Kentucky Department of Education Division of Learning Services, 2011). Co-Teaching in Kentucky refers to a regular education teacher and a special education teacher working together to ensure the success of their students. When the term Co-Teaching is utilized, this refers to a specific type of collaborative teaching format. In this scenario, this is a special education service delivery option. Co-Teaching services may occur daily and weekly based on an individual student's Individual Education Program (IEP) and involve two or more certified teachers, including a regular and special education teacher (Friend, 2008). Both the regular education teacher and special education teacher share instructional responsibilities and hold joint accountability for the educational progress of students with disabilities through a partnership and utilizing teaching strategies in a general education setting (Friend, 2008).

Full Inclusionists

Full co-teaching models for the purposes of this study refers to a special education teacher collaborating with the general education teacher providing specially designed instruction in the general education classroom. The advocate for full inclusion believes

that the supports should be brought to the student receiving special education services in the general education classroom. Rather than removing the student to receive necessary supports (Wright, 1999). Full Inclusion consists of special education students being educated in the general education classroom setting for the entirety of the school day. NCLB advocates have a lengthy history of supporting a policy of full inclusion. This is the placement of virtually all students with disabilities in the regular education classroom full-time (Fuchs, Fuchs, & Stecker, 2010). Full co-teaching models are more commonly seen in elementary buildings. Elementary teachers can carry out a full co-teaching model for an entire school day by placing a special educator's caseload into a general education class at that grade level (Dieker & Murawski, 2003). For example, if there are 12 special education students in 3rd grade, all students can be included in one general education classroom with both co-teachers for the whole day.

Full inclusion can be seen as "blurring" the lines between special education and general education. As a result, the distinction between special education would disappear (Fuchs, Fuchs, & Stecker, 2010). The theory of full inclusion placement in the general education classroom setting is a desirable concept. However, the reasons full inclusionists support and advocate for a full-inclusion model vary depending on the type of full inclusion theory in which they identify.

There are three types of full inclusionists. The first type is a group that advocates for the full deconstruction of special education. The second type is a group that is conservative financially and also policymakers that hold the perspective that full inclusion is a necessary cost-saving measure. The third group advocates for full inclusion with imperative supports and services brought to the general education classroom to meet

the needs of students identified as having a disability (Fuchs & Fuchs 1998; Pfieffer & Reddy, 1999; Villa & Thousand, 2005).

The most pressing concern of advocates for full inclusion is the thought that special education should be represented through a Tier of Response to Intervention (RTI) (Fuchs, Fuchs, & Stecker, 2010). As a result, there is a lack of potential to build a comprehensive general education program that remains inclusive. This was the former way of thinking for the advocates of full inclusion in the 1980s and 1990s that believed in the full elimination of special education and the continuum of placement (Fuchs, Fuchs, & Stecker, 2010).

The most prominent advocacy groups for full inclusion are primarily parents of children with severe intellectual disabilities. This advocacy group of parents believes that the primary responsibility of an educator is to nourish friendships between students with disabilities and their non-disabled peers (Fuchs & Fuchs, 1998). Additionally, the belief is held that, for students who have a severe cognitive disability to become productive members of society, a prerequisite during school-aged years is to learn relevant functional and social skills in the general education classroom setting (Fuchs & Fuchs, 1998.

94-142, a vast majority of children with disabilities were continuing to be denied access to the general education classroom setting to be educated in the least restrictive environment with their non-disabled peers (Maloney, 1994). Full inclusionists argue that removing students to receive special education services is segregative in nature and by removing students, they do not have access to the same challenging curriculum as their

It was argued in 1995 that for the previous 15 years following the passage of P.L.

non-disabled peers (Forest & Lusthaus, 1989). Through full inclusion of special education students in the general education classroom setting, an end is put to the segregation of students with disabilities and their non-disabled peers.

Another group of full inclusion advocates hold the belief that special education services should be provided to not only special education students with disabilities but also general education students in the general education classroom setting (Fuchs et al., 2010; Stainback & Stainback, 1985). Full inclusionists believe that the responsibility to work together to support students with disabilities of all levels to gain the necessary knowledge, self-control, and essential life skills to become predictive members of society belongs to the collaboration of general education and special education teachers (Fuchs & Fuchs, 1998). Consequently, graduation from high school, post-high school employment, or college enrollment will be facilitated through co-teaching collaboration in the general education classroom setting.

Barriers of Co-Teaching

Challenges exist at all levels for teachers involved in a co-teaching model. Secondary education teachers, those at the middle and high school level, face the reality that they may not have a depth of content knowledge in every subject that would allow for a true partnership in a secondary classroom. By virtue of their training, special education teachers rarely have deep content knowledge in all subjects offered at the secondary level. Special education teachers at the secondary level reported not feeling prepared as content specialists (Dieker & Murawski, 2003). An example of this could be a special education teacher assigned to be a co-teacher in a geometry class with general and special education students. However, the special education teacher likely does not

have any content specialty knowledge in geometry. This subsequently leads them to more of an observer role during lesson delivery. As a result, the special education teacher often can be seen as a teacher assistant to the general education teacher in the classroom (Keefe & Moore, 2004). Content knowledge at the high school level is more of a challenge for special education teachers who become co-teachers (Keefe & Moore, 2004).

The high school level of instruction presents barriers to co-teaching while elementary level co-teaching may present its own barriers as well. A child's elementary years of education are vital for learning necessary social skills and developing friendships. A study conducted by Pivik, McComas, and LaFlamme (2002), revealed intentional and unintentional barriers to effective co-teaching in elementary schools. Elementary students receiving special education services through a co-teaching model reported a difficulty forming friendships due to intentional ignoring of their peers. As a result, they were not able to fully benefit from the co-teaching model. Additional barriers included students with disabilities being emotionally bullied such as name calling or being treated differently than their non-disabled peers (Pivik, McComas, & LaFlamme, 2002).

The nature of collaboration between special education and general education teachers is another consistent barrier found in the current literature. Currently, a consistent method for partnering with co-teachers does not exist (Keefe & Moore, 2004). Frequently, co-teachers may be paired together based on who is available when creating the master schedule. Teachers should have input in selecting their co-teachers (Keefe & Moore, 2004). Partnerships of co-teachers should be determined by the needs

of the students in the classroom rather than teacher willingness. Previous studies have recommended that prospective co-teachers be interviewed to determine their level of compatibility for co-teaching together (Keefe & Moore, 2004). As a result of being paired as co-teachers without any input, a feeling of increased pressure for accountability of results seems to arise (Dieker & Murawski, 2003)

A lack of time to adequately plan together is noted as a significant barrier for coteachers although noted as one of the most important factors leading to successful coteaching (Dieker & Murawski, 2003). Finding time to communicate and plan together is difficult for co-teachers who likely do not share the same planning period (Keefe & Moore, 2004). Special education teachers may co-teach with multiple general education teachers at all levels and finding time to plan together is a challenge.

Defining the role of the special education teacher in the general education classroom varies by school and the expectations of administrators (Keefe & Moore, 2004). Some teachers settle into roles with the special education teacher taking the sole responsibility for modifications and accommodations for special education students. In contrast, the general education teacher took the lead in planning the curriculum and delivery of lessons. Often, the special education teacher may need to explain the student's disability and the appropriate modifications based on the student's Individual Education Program (Keefe & Moore).

Determining which teacher would complete grading is a complex area to navigate. Due to their content specialty, general education teachers may prefer to grade all student assignments. Co-teaching pairs that preferred to co-assess together reported a barrier when finding time to co-assess together (Persiani, Ricci, & Williams,

2019). Others felt that the special education teacher should grade students' assignments with Individual Education Plans (Keefe & Moore). Finding the time and appropriate space to assess formative and summative assessments together is a barrier for co-teachers (Persiani, Ricci, & Williams, 2019).

Co-Teaching Models

The whole group approaches to co-teaching include Team Teaching, One Teach, One Observe, and One Teach, One Assist. These approaches do not lower the student-to-teacher ratio in the classroom.

Team Teaching involves both the regular education teacher and special education co-teaching pair teaching in front of the whole class. Each teacher participates simultaneously, leading the classroom in core instruction (Kentucky Department of Education Division of Learning Services, 2011).

One Teach, One Observe, is implemented with one co-teaching partner leading whole-class instruction. While one teacher (either the special education or general education teacher) leads the class in instruction, the other collects data through observation. Ideally, the co-teaching partners have agreed upon and discussed predetermined specific information that will be observed and gathered during instruction. Together, they will analyze the observational data to make intentional instructional decisions or create temporary skill groups for future classroom instruction (Kentucky Department of Education Division of Learning Services, 2011). One Teach, One Assist, is the method that most co-teachers have experience implementing. This method also does not reduce the student-to-teacher ratio. During One Teach, One Assist, one co-teacher is primarily responsible for delivering whole-class

instruction for the lesson. While one co-teacher leads the class in instruction, the other co-teacher circulates through the classroom to assist students as needed (Kentucky Department of Education Division of Learning Services, 2011). Support can take many forms, such as assisting a student with a specific math problem they may be struggling with, prompting students off task, or clarifying directions. Frequently, this is the special education teacher providing accommodations individually on a student's IEP. This approach is the most commonly overutilized.

Small group approaches include Alternative Teaching, Station Teaching, and Parallel Teaching. Small group approaches reduce the overall student-to-teacher ratio. However, these methods traditionally require more planning and preparation between the special education teacher and general education. These are also the most underutilized co-teaching strategies.

Alternative teaching consists of one co-teaching partner instructing one group. At the same time, the other teacher (this can be either the special education or general education teacher) works with a temporarily formed small group. In this group, a specific and intentional instructional purpose is identified in advance. The small group instruction can take various forms and may be for the enrichment of a previously learned concept, re-teaching a concept to struggling students, pre-teaching vocabulary words, and other instructional strategies. Once this small group instruction is complete, students will return to the large group and continue participating in classroom instruction, group work, or assignments. The general education teacher and special education teacher should meet consistently to plan and reform the small group makeup of students based on continued various formative assessment data. This is to avoid any consistent segregation that may

result in stigmatizing students with disabilities (Kentucky Department of Education Division of Learning Services, 2011).

Station teaching divides the instructional content into assigned workstations around the classroom. The co-teachers divide the students from both general education and special education students into small groups. These groups of students rotate throughout the classroom. In a station teaching model, the special education and general education teacher will work with an assigned teacher-led station. Stations without a teacher are student lead stations. Students rotate at a designated time at each station. (Ricci, Persiani, & Williams, 2019).

Parallel Teaching occurs when the classroom of students is divided into two groups. Each teacher leads a group of students in the lesson. Both groups have the same instructional standards and objectives. During the implementation of parallel teaching, the same materials and resources are used throughout the lesson for consistency among both groups. The benefit of this model is that the student-to-teacher ratio is reduced (Ricci et al., 2019). However, the classroom setup must be conducive to effective parallel teaching.

Identified trends and success strategies resulted from a case study that implemented the six co-teaching models in a California school districts with both middle and high school educators during a pilot program in a mathematics teacher program (Yopp, Ellis, Bonsangue, Duarte, Meza, 2014). The case study occurred in two low-performing, high-needs school districts. Two cohorts of teaching fellows with 20 teachers at both the middle and high school levels were selected to participate in the coteaching pilot program. Teaching fellows were paired with master teacher fellows to co-

teach (Yopp et al., 2014). Prior to the school year beginning, all teachers completed a half-day of professional development. Professional development provided the coteaching pairs with the opportunity to practice communication, role play, explore coteaching models, and build a positive relationship (Yopp et al., 2014). Forty-three percent of co-teachers reported Team Teaching as the most-liked model of co-teaching.

In contrast, twenty-four percent of co-teachers reported Team Teaching as their least favored model. Parallel Teaching was reported by thirty-three percent of co-teachers to be the least favorite and nineteen percent of co-teachers to be the most favorite (Yopp et al., 2014). The teacher fellows' and master co-teachers perceived success was consistent with the implementation of One Teach, One Assist. At least fifty percent of co-teachers reported success with all other co-teaching models, except for alternative teaching. Survey results revealed that Alternative Teaching is reported to be the most challenging to implement (Yopp et al., 2014).

Co-Teaching Roles, Responsibilities, and Relationships

Perceptions toward co-teaching tend to vary depending on prior knowledge and prior experiences with co-teaching (Keefe & Moore, 2004). The relationship that co-teachers shared had a significant impact on their overall negative or positive perception of co-teaching. Findings following a co-teaching case study in an urban teacher residency program revealed that both residents and mentors had an overall positive perception of the benefits of co-teaching following the completion of the residency program (Ricci, Persiana, & Williams, 2019). Initial perceptions of co-teachers found that many candidates for co-teaching reported feeling overwhelmed, stressed, and fearful

(Strieker, Gillis, & Zong, 2013). Varied perspectives for the general education teacher mentor and special education teacher candidate were revealed following the case study.

Limited time for co-planning and co-assessing was a common theme between mentors and residents. Residents reported that the fixation on classroom furniture hindered the ability and effectiveness of implementing the different co-teaching models, remarkably parallel teaching (Ricci et al., 2019). Residents and mentors also reported a common concern with an equal division of the workload. For co-teaching to be effective, co-teachers must create an equal and balanced workload between the two (Strieker et al., 2013). Co-teachers having an equivalent workload is more likely to result in the students viewing both teachers as equal authority figures in the classroom. Inequalities in the workload are more likely to result in ineffective co-teaching results (Strieker et al., 2013).

Positive interactions and communication are critical factors for effective coteaching results (Strieker et al., 2019). During the urban teacher residency program, both co-teachers shared that they could more frequently communicate with one another and debrief due to co-teaching throughout the day (Ricci et al., 2019). Co-teaching has been referred to as being analogous to a marriage. For effective results, much giving and talking must occur.

Both the special education and general education teachers having the ability to choose their co-teaching partner positively impacted the division of roles and responsibilities, resulting in more positive perceptions of co-teaching. General education teachers and special education teachers had the opportunity to interview one another to determine compatibility prior to co-teaching resulted in increased effectiveness (Keefe &

Moore, 2004). Allowing the special educator to have autonomy in their choice of the content area and grade level(s) of knowledge, preference, and in which they are going to co-teach holds value when nurturing the confidence in both educators as well as a willingness to participate in co-teaching strategies (Nierengarten & Hughes, 2010).

Role Theory and Critical Disability Theory provided the guidelines and framework for the chosen methodology. This study is a qualitative case study. Data was retrieved through conducting individual semi structured interviews with those currently implementing co-teaching practices. Interviews occurred outside of school hours through a voluntary basis. To ensure the reliability of the data, special education and general education teachers were asked the same questions throughout the interview process.

Teacher Perception and the Role in Teacher Effectiveness

One must consider the perception of the teachers who are implementing coteaching practices and the role that it plays in teacher effectiveness. There have been several studies in which teachers reported positive perceptions towards co-teaching (Hang & Rabren, 2009). Of those studies, it was reported that implementing teachers felt that their students had an increase in their self-confidence, peer relationships, social skills and academic performance (Austin, 2001; Cramer & Nevin, 2006; Ritter, Michael, & Irby, 1999; Trent, 1998; Walther-Thomas, 1997). It is noted that 6 studies derived from 89 articles related to co-teaching had a sufficient amount of quantitative data to be used in calculations by Murawski and Swanson (2001) on the effectiveness of the co-teaching instructional approach. From the 6 studies it was determined that an average effect size of 0.40 indicates that co-teaching s a moderately effective instructional approach for

students with disabilities (Murwaski & Swanson, 2001). A summary of qualitative studies both special education and general education teachers reported that experienced professional benefits from implementing co-teaching practices and being part of a co-teaching arrangement (Scruggs, Mastropieri, & McDuffie 2007).

Summary

Effective co-teaching involves two teachers, one general education and one special education teacher, collaborating to provide students with disabilities an enhanced learning experience (Bryant & Land, 1998). In 1975, IDEA was created. Amendments have been made to IDEA. However, the requirement of educating students in the least restrictive environment is a defining component of IDEA. Referenced court cases and the proceeding implications for educators and decision-makers have continued to support the needs of special education students. According to the United States Department of Education, the National Center for Education Statistics, in 2016, 61.80% of students receiving special education services were educated in the regular education classroom setting for more than 80% of the school day (Underwood, 2018).

Co-teachers generally have positive perceptions of co-teaching (Hang & Raben, 2009). However, as covered in this chapter, additional factors may influence the outcomes of positive or negative perceptions of co-teaching, such as administrative support, common planning time, and professional development offered. However, clearly defined roles and responsibilities have an impact on the outcomes of teachers' perceptions of co-teaching. Confusion amongst roles and responsibilities that are not clearly defined results in the assumed hierarchy in the classroom by the content teacher (Keefe & Moore,

2004). Furthermore, Hang and Raben (2017) revealed that practices that led to ineffective co-teaching outcomes included lack of professional development, insufficient planning time, and not having clearly defined roles.

Gaps in the literature that I discovered included professional development and the impact when offered concurrently with the implementation of co-teaching. Professional development offered prior to the initial implementation of co-teaching was reviewed in the literature. However, there was not an adequate amount that reviewed professional development offered concurrently with the implementation and ongoing throughout the school year. Additionally, there was minimal literature on co-teaching preparation for educators in teacher preparation programs completing their undergrads.

CHAPTER III METHODOLOGY

Restatement of the Purpose

This studies purpose was to investigate within the OVEC region of north central Kentucky, the teacher perceptions of co-teaching and the factors that may influence their perceptions of co-teaching at the elementary school level in grades kindergarten through five that lead to student success. Objectives of the purpose of this study were to determine successful practices, structures, preparation, and support systems that contribute to positive perceptions of successful co-teaching, including strategies practices with the intent of utilizing the findings to positively impact co-teaching at the elementary school level. An additional purpose of this case study was to utilize the findings to determine what additional supports and practices may need to be put into place to achieve successful co-teaching.

Restatement of Research Questions

RQ 1: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?

RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?

RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what structures and supports currently in place do those involved in co-teaching believe contribute to the success of the co-teaching model?

RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional supports systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical frameworks of Critical Disability Theory and Role Theory has guided the methodology of this research. This approach has allowed me to cultivate a more profound understanding using the tenets of Critical Disability Theory and Role Theory to cultivate an empirical understanding of the perspectives of teachers implementing and participating in co-teaching practices.

Critical Disability Theory refers to a diverse set of theoretical approaches. The task of critical disability theory is to analyze disability as a cultural, historical, relative, social, and political occurrence. This work may also be referred to as "Critical Disability Studies" or CDS (e.g., Meekosha & Shuttleworth 2009; Vehmas & Watson 2014). Critical Disability Theory involves the scrutiny of not bodily or mental limitations and impairments but the social norms that define particular attributes as disabled and the social conditions that enforce stigmatized attributes in minorities (Schalk, 2017). The Theory of Disability explores the identities of minorities and the belief that if their identities are thought disabled, consequently, there will be little hope for the political and social equality of minorities with these identities or disabled people (Siebers, 2021). As long as this exists, there will be continued justification for inferior treatment. Disablism is

defined as a form of oppression that involved the restricting of activity on people with a disability resulting in an undermining of their overall emotional wellbeing (Goodley, Butz, & Schlegel, 2017). Having a disability may be viewed as a personal tragedy or deficiency. Critical Disability Theory has guided me in my research as a lens to view disabilities as a problem of society rather than an individual's personal limitations

Role Theory supported Critical Disability Theory in guiding the framework of this study. Role Theory seeks to examine patterns in behavior and roles. The functional approach to Role Theory manifested from the work of Linton in 1936 (Biddle, 1986). Role Theory explains that persons in specific roles hold expectations for their behavior and hold expectations for other persons in the same role (Biddle, 1986). Co-teaching teams have many demands placed on them, and their perspective may be influenced by role strain. Individuals may experience role strain when faced with demands of their role and internal conflicts. These internal conflicts may become "role strains" (Goode, 1960). A co-teacher may have a predetermined perspective towards co-teaching depending on their background and experiences related to co-teaching. Factors that may impact an individual accepting their role obligations include compartmentalization abilities, delegation, and elimination of role relationships (Goode, 1960). Co-teaching partnerships can become effective with collaboration by using individual strengths and personal differences (Pratt, 2014).). Role theory provided a framework to help understand the complexity and expectations of the role of a co-teacher. Role theory helps explain the ways in which the roles and expectations of a co-teacher have an influence on the perceptions of those performing these roles in the school of study.

Research Design and Rationale

A case study is most appropriately defined as an in-depth study of a single unit

(Gerring, 2004). Yin described a case study as the investigation of an empirical inquiry further seeking information about a contemporary phenomenon within the real-life context, particularly when the boundaries are unclear between the phenomenon and context (Yin, 2004). A single-case study design with a qualitative approach was utilized in this study.

According to Scruggs et al. (2007), "Qualitative research is generally appropriate for describing and providing insights about attitudes, perceptions, interactions, classroom structure, and behaviors" (p. 394). A case study is an inquiry in which the researcher explores a single program, activity, event, or process of one or multiple individuals (Creswell, 2009).

For this study, a case study supported in determining successful practices, structures, preparation, and support systems that contribute to successful co-teaching at the elementary school level in grades kindergarten through five at schools within the OVEC region. Yin (2014) stated a dual definition of a case study. A case study is an empirical inquiry that investigates a contemporary phenomenon (the "case") in depth and within its real-world context, mainly when the boundaries between the context and the phenomenon may not be transparent (Yin, 2014). A case study inquiry copes with a distinctive situation in which there may be multiple variables of interest than data points. One result relies on various sources of evidence with triangulating data confirming the results. The greater depth the research questions seek to understand "how" or "why" the workings of a social phenomenon, the more helpful case study research will be (Yin,

2014). The objective of a single case study, when presented with a standard case, is to capture specific circumstances and conditions within a daily situation. The mandate of IDEA that students with disabilities are educated with their non-disabled peers in the least restrictive environment results in public schools educating students in co-teaching classrooms. As early as 1990, there were identifiable trends in public education moving toward greater inclusion for students with disabilities (Lipsky & Gartner, 1996; U.S. Department of Education, 1999).

Yin (2014) addresses the reality that case study research follows a formal protocol. Data collection occurred through one-on-one semi-structured interviews. A case study interview is more aligned with a guided conversation than a structured inquiry (Yin, 2014). The intent of the study was to determine reliable, valid, and common teacher perceptions of co-teaching. To achieve this, semi-structured interviews occured with the general education co-teacher and special education teachers within OVEC in grades kindergarten through five. Interviews were recorded and transcribed using Microsoft Teams. Interviews only occurred after verbal and written consent is obtained from each of the special education and general education teachers for a total of ten consent forms. Data collected from semi-structured interviews was analyzed and coded for themes to ensure reliability and validity of the data. Creswell (2009) stated, "Researchers make use of multiple and different sources, methods, investigators, and theories to provide corroborating evidence" (p.208). Audio recordings were collected during the interview with permission from the interviewee to provide a more accurate recall for transcribing purposes.

Target Population, Participants, Sample, and Sampling Procedures

The target population of this study were teachers within the OVEC region currently teaching in grades kindergarten through five who are providing co-teaching services to students with disabilities. Participants were invited to be interviewed in a one-on-one setting to further discuss their perceptions of co-teaching and factors that influence their perceptions specifically in the areas of professional development, administrator support, and co-planning time.

I conducted interviews with a total of ten teachers, being a mixture of general education teachers and special education teachers currently providing co-teaching strategies within the OVEC region. Teachers interviewed may be currently teaching in any of the fifteen school districts supported by OVEC in the north central region of Kentucky. The participants identified in this study were all certified Kentucky general education classroom teachers in grades kindergarten through five. The participants interviewed came with a variety of experience with implementing co-teaching strategies and a variety of professional development provided throughout their background and educational training.

Consent Process

When conducting a study on a contemporary phenomenon within a real-world context, as the researcher, I am obligated to proper ethical implementations (Yin, 2014). To adhere to these ethical implications, prior to engaging with any participants in the research, I sought approval from the University of Louisville (UofL) IRB. For the UofL IRB process to be successful I followed the steps provided to submit a new study. Approval by the UofL IRB is a requirement prior to conducting any initial research with human subjects. Specific care for this case study research involved gaining informed

consent from prospective participants. This process included protecting participants from possible harm. This will encompass avoiding any deception, protecting their privacy and confidentiality, taking special precautions to protect particularly vulnerable persons, and selecting participants in an equitable manner (National Research Council, 2003).

Data Analysis

Data collection for this study was obtained through one on one Semi-structured interviews occurred from November 2023 to March 2024. The interviews were one-onone with the general education teacher and special education teacher separately for coteachers to feel comfortable answering honestly. The interviews were recorded and transcribed using Microsoft Teams. As referenced by Saldana (2016), coding is a way to analyze qualitative data that includes words or short phrases through symbolically assigning an attribute to a portion of language that is based on data. The interviews were coded in the first round through In Vivo coding in the initial coding cycle. The first coding cycle identified the language and terminology used by the interviewees in the semi-structured interviews. In-vivo coding supported in the authenticity of the data because it was rooted in the participants language (Saldana, 2016). The first coding cycle was open coding, this was an analytic process which utilized a consistent comparison of data (Corbin & Strauss, 1990). Overall themes were noted during the first round of open coding. After the initial coding for identified themes, the second coding round occured to identify more succinct themes and organize coinciding with the initial research questions. The second coding round was descriptive coding. Descriptive coding supported to categorize multiple opinions stated by multiple participants (Saldana, 2016). The third and final round of coding used axial coding.

Strengths and Limitations

What initially drew me to qualitative research was a quote by a former college professor. "Everyone's perspective is their reality." The way that individuals and communities of people make sense of the world creates their reality. I used this to explore further the teacher's perspectives on the benefits of co-teaching and how co-teaching can be improved to better support students for student success. Qualitative research can be defined as any type of research that produces findings and is not solely an objective procedure quantifiable through numbers. (Rahman, 2017). Qualitative research can explore lived experiences, behaviors, emotions, feelings, organizational functioning, and social movements (Rahman, 2017).

I chose to utiliza a qualitative approach because there has been a shift in the mindset and thoughts toward special education becoming more inclusive since the Individuals with Disabilities Act was enacted. Our society and communities have become more inclusive throughout history, and this shift appears within our schools. A limitation of conducting a qualitative study is confidentiality. Confidentiality needs to remain a significant part of the study and research. However, when conducting a qualitative study, it may not be feasible for Confidentiality to remain absolute (ILTA, 2016). As the facilitator of research, confidentiality must be maintained while still exploring the perspectives and realities of our educators towards inclusive education and best practices for students with disabilities.

Context of the Study

The research was conducted within the region of Kentucky supported by the Ohio Valley Education Cooperative (OVEC). OVEC serves fifteen school districts within north central Kentucky and provides an avenue to support and facilitate regional planning, educational planning, and professional development to occur on an ongoing basis (OVEC, 2023). Although OVEC serves fifteen school districts in grades preschool through twelve, this study will focus on elementary school teachers, general education and special education teachers within the OVEC region teaching in grades kindergarten through five. Within OVEC is an Exceptional Children Services (ECS) department. The OVEC ECS department aims to provide leadership and provide specialized training and supports in collaboration with the Kentucky Department of Education (KDE) and surrounding school districts (OVEC, 2023). One of the particular services provided to the school districts supported by OVEC is training, coaching, and support on Co-Teaching strategies.

To provide an overview of the fifteen school districts within OVEC during the 2021-2022 school year each district ranged from having 10.90% students with an Individual Education Program (IEP) at Anchorage Independent School District to 17.50% of students having an IEP at Spencer County School District. The statewide average for the 2021-2022 school year was 16.00%. This study focused on teachers within the OVEC region and their perceptions of co-teaching in the areas of professional development, administrator support, and co-planning. Students with disabilities that are provided special education services in the general education classroom through co-teaching are participating in the Least Restrictive Environment (LRE). Indicator 5A from KDE

provides data on the percentage of students with an IEP serviced in the regular education classroom setting for 80% or more of their day. Below is a chart representing the percentage of students with an IEP in each of the 15 school districts within OVEC.

Table 1

Table 1 provides data from the 2021-2022 school year and the OVEC Region School Districts individual percentage of the total population of students with an IEP educated in the general education classroom setting for 80% or more of the school day during the 2021-2022 school year.

School District	>=80% in gen ed	
Anchorage Independent Schools	89.20%	
Bullitt County Schools	70.50%	
Carroll County Schools	81.80%	
Eminence Independent Schools	88.30%	
Franklin County Schools	83.20%	
Gallatin County Schools	85.60%	
Grant County Schools	83.30%	
Henry County Schools	84.30%	
Oldham County Schools	77.80%	
Owen County Schools	92.30%	
Shelby County Schools	83.20%	
Spencer County Schools	93.00%	
Trimble County Schools	87.00%	

Note: The percentages represent the percentage of total. District list by Indicator 5A: Inside the regular class 80% or more of the day.

Retrieved from:

https://kcewsreports.ky.gov/t/KCEWS/views/SpecialEducationIndicatorDashboardV2/1_Districts?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=

Table 1 Summary:

The state target had not been set for the 2021-2022 school year but individual districts within OVEC can be compared to the 2020-2021 school year state target of 75% of students educated within the regular education classroom for 80% or more of the school day. When comparing to the 2020-20201 state target, all but one school district met the state target.

This case study identified factors contributing to the success of an elementary school co-teaching model in grades kindergarten through five from the perceptions of general education and special education teachers within the OVEC region. As a result, other schools within the region, surrounding education cooperatives in the state of Kentucky, and universities will be able to employ the knowledge gathered to enhance teacher preparation programs, replicate and implement successful strategies, and create professional development targeted to address areas of deficit.

Ethical Considerations

When working with and educating students with disabilities, we have a moral and legal responsibility to provide them with services and support to meet their individual needs. The school systems across our nation have a responsibility to provide all students, especially students with disabilities, the skills, and experiences that will

effectively prepare them to function in a complex society with vastly changing demands (Jenkins, 1985). Additionally, as a researcher, I need to be cognizant not to push the narrative further that students with disabilities are perceived as being less than or not as capable compared to their typically developing peers. The term disability may potentially unintentionally create a connection to students with disabilities not having the same potential for academic success as students without disabilities. Society's positive value placed on individuals without disabilities deemed normal or without deficits creates the conditions in which students with disabilities remain separate (Gilham & Tompkins, 2016).

Additionally, I plan to utilize the results of this research to implement change. The desired change for the betterment of education and special education services that we provide for students with disabilities will be guided using the results of this study. Ensuring that intentional plans for change follow the findings of this study will be paramount.

Intentional use of a Structured Ethical Reflection (SER) tool guided the continued awareness of ethical considerations throughout this study. The intended use of a Structured Ethical Reflection tool guided the ethical considerations and implementation of the research process. Possible misconceptions or ethical concerns had the potential to arise throughout this process. The SER tool was a support to guide the work to alleviate and avoid possible negative implications for the participants that are most affected, the students themselves.

I chose six values as a focus in my reflection process. IDEA mandates one of the six, inclusivity. This mandate for inclusivity is through more of an elevated platform. In my day-to-day work as a Special Education specialist, I must be part of developing strategies and advising to promote inclusivity. Through the reflection process, I have concluded that when developing partnerships throughout this research, I ensured to maintain being cognizant of student needs and putting student needs at the center of this research.

Conviction and resilience are two additional values from the SER process that furthered the success of this research. Being aware of variances in predetermined opinions of other educators had the potential to sway the conviction and values that I hold. However, through resilience and holding true to the purpose of this research, planning for the future needs of students with disabilities I was able to remain a focus of this research process.

Opportunity being a value of high importance for me as a researcher is also a trait identified through the SER tool. Providing students with disabilities opportunities and creating opportunities for stakeholders worked in achieving the overarching purpose of this research. The overarching goal of this research process was to make decisions that are best for students to meet their needs most effectively. Maintaining the core values through implementing the SER tool throughout the process acted as a facilitator to the student-centered research process and dissemination of knowledge to enhance the educational experiences of students with disabilities(s).

Process for Exploring Researcher Positionality

Exploring researcher positionality is an important aspect of conducting qualitative research as it allows the researcher to acknowledge their own biases and how they might influence the research process. As a researcher conducting research on teacher perspectives of co-teaching, I reflected on my own experiences and biases related to co-teaching and teaching in general.

According to Creswell (2013), researcher positionality refers to "the influence of the researcher's background and beliefs on the research process" (p. 203). As such, I reflected on my own experiences as a teacher and a co-teacher, as well as any biases or assumptions I might have about co-teaching. To further explore my positionality, I also engaged in ongoing self-reflection throughout the research process (Finlay, 2002). I considered how my own experiences and biases may affect my interpretation of data and my interactions with participants.

Milner (2007) stated that dominant notions of what is categorized and accepted as normal in education practices. The positionality of a researcher is shaped by his/her unique mix of race, class, gender, sexuality, and other identifiers, including positions of power into which society has placed the person, as well as his/her personal life experiences within and around these identities (Tetreault, 1993). I believed myself nearly immune to falling into one of Milner's "unforeseen dangers." Any work in special education has the potential to be sensitive. As an educator who has worked with students of varying disabilities and needs, I had the potential to present a biased view of topics centralized in special education practices. Throughout this research process, it was imperative not to view this process from an influenced point of view due to my work in

education. While being cognizant of my potential personal bias towards the research and the impacts of bias, I aimed to also not lose sight of the moral imperative of the research. Including students receiving special education services in the least restrictive environment can be controversial. The controversy manifests when viewed by stakeholders who may hold differing perspectives and who are affected in varying degrees.

It is imperative that, as a researcher, I engaged in cultural self-reflection as well. To do this effectively, I posed conscious questions about myself. As addressed by Milner (2007), researchers engaging in thoughtful and intentional questions through self-reflection can bring awareness and consciousness to known (seen), unknown (unseen), and unanticipated (unforeseen) issues, perspectives, epistemologies, and positionality. I addressed this ethical consideration through the process of triangulating data within the case study. By utilizing data collected from stakeholders that were participants in the research, the data possessed reliability and validity. Ensuring the perspectives and participation of varying stakeholders worked to alleviate and be proactive regarding potential ethical harm.

The sensitive nature of special education is similar to how Milner (2007) discussed his positionality of conducting research. When conducting research centered on special education and general education teacher perceptions, the researcher must consider whether they have the cultural knowledge to accurately interpret and validate the experiences of the teachers (Milner, 2007). Most educators have heard stories about students coming to school dirty, without proper clothes, and hungry from abusive homes.

On one of my first days as a former special education implementation coach (ARC chair), one of the students had come to my office for a "cooling off" period. She asked me, "What is your real name?" I asked for clarification and inquired if she meant my first name. She said, "Yes." When I told her that my first name was Heidi, she responded with, "Why do you white people always have such stupid ass names?" I was a bit taken aback at first. After reflecting on the statement, my name probably sounds very unfamiliar to her. I loved the experiences that I gained while working at a diverse school. It gave me the opportunity to have a better understanding of the homes our students come from and their convictions and beliefs. Banks (1998) and Tillman (2002) reviewed the importance of researchers and their personal development of cultural knowledge within the communities being researched and how this is a critical part of the research process. Over the next three years, I had the opportunity to meet with multiple families daily, allowing me to better understand their perspectives.

Banks (1998) and Tillman (2002) reminded us that the researchers' development of cultural knowledge is a critical component of the research process. Meaning who is conducting research with people and communities of color is less important than the knowledge developed by the researchers about the people and communities being studied.

In reading an article by Georgia Rhoades on *Dealing with Racism in the Classroom*, she stated that she could no longer see herself teaching in a world where she can no longer be invisibly non-racist (Rhoades, 1991). The knowledge of my positionality provided the road map to complete research with the intent of the success of our students and communities. Understanding teacher perceptions of co-teaching allows

and empowers me to determine successful strategies that can be employed to ensure students with disabilities have access to the same quality programs and academic experiences as their non-disabled peers. Most importantly, the outcomes of this study provide the evidence necessary to support changes in culture, practice, and policy for special education students on a smaller scale in the school of study and on a broader scale in our communities and state-wide educational practices. Our work should always be student facing and rooted in equity.

Trustworthiness: Strategies for Ensuring Credibility, Transferability, and Dependability

General criteria can be used in establishing the trustworthiness of the research. The criteria include credibility, transferability, and dependability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Credibility has been referenced as aligning findings with reality (Stahl & King, 2020). This can be a subjective question due to relaying on individual judgments of the reader. For this study, credibility was promoted through the use of multiple sources of interviews. By not relying purely on one or two interview results data credibility was promoted as part of this research through establishing repeated patterns in the data (Stahl & King, 2020).

A second identifying factor identified by Lincoln and Guba (1985) of trustworthiness is transferability. The design of a qualitative study does not aim to be replicated but also maintain patterns from one context to another (Stahl & King 2020). I aimed to guarantee that the transferability of data being established through the use of data collected from one on one semi structured interviews and intentionally coded for themes. Interview findings are reported out with a thick description of the processes for

readers to have a deep understanding of the context of the research circumstances. The duration of the study is also described in detail as well as the method and time frame to establish transferability of the research (Stahl & King, 2020). The transferability of the findings has been established through the use of current practices. Through more recent amendments to IDEA, inclusive education has been included by documenting the requirement that students with disabilities are educated in the least restrictive environment. The practices completed in this study are transferable due to the federal mandates and current practices in modern schools. This study occurred with teachers across the OVEC region with a range of experience and schema related to professional development which will provide a range of findings that have not been confined to a specific teacher.

Dependability, the third perspective that contributes to trustworthiness from Lincoln and Guba (1985) has been enforced throughout the research process and analysis by ensuring that my personal biases do not impact the research and data analysis or interpretation. My personal biases reflected in the data analysis would have negatively impacted the dependability of the research findings (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). The process of bracketing was used to ensure dependability. Discussed by Stahl and King (2020), bracketing separated the data into interpretations and observations as a way to create dependability. The bracketing process involved my bias as a researcher and the existence of my bias within the data analysis. I utilized the methods discussed above throughout my study to ensure credibility, transferability, and dependability to aim for

trustworthiness of the research to guide further practices and implementation of the findings.

Summary

The significance of my study is based in the federal and state policies outlined by IDEA which require the education of students with disabilities to the maximum extent appropriate with their non-disabled peers. When researching co-teaching it is paramount to study the perception of those who are implementing the instructional strategy. Chapter III outlines plan for researching teacher's perceptions of co-teaching.

The goal of chapter III is to outline the methods of research to address the identified research questions. A review of the context of study, procedures, study participants, data collection, and data analysis to outline and frame the connection to the identified methodology. Chapter III clarified utilizing a qualitative case study approach and how a qualitative case study can lead to appropriately defining a single unit of study to better understand a larger unit of study (Gerring, 2004). A review of ensuing trustworthiness and the steps taken to each transferability was also reviewed in Chapter III. An overview of theoretical frameworks of Role Theory and Critical Disability Theory correlated to the structuring of the research plan and enacting that plan. Participants, collection of data, and data analysis were discussed, and how they relate to the purpose of the research to determine the perspectives and implementation of co-teaching to support the needs of students with disabilities in the least restrictive environment.

Data collected in Chapter III will guide the findings that will be reported in Chapter IV. The purpose of Chapter IV is to report the findings of the research following

the implementation of the identified methodology from chapter III. This study will contribute to the research of the perceptions of general education and special education, co-teaching pairs towards the development and implementation of co-teaching instructional strategies to continue to support students with disabilities.

CHAPTER IV

DATA ANALYSIS

Introduction

This phenomenological study aimed to report on the perceptions of special education and general education co-teachers in grades kindergarten through five.

Specifically, how co-planning time, administrator support, and professional development impact educator perceptions. Chapter four details the outcomes of this phenomenological inquiry aimed at addressing the following research questions posed in this study:

- RQ 1: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?
- RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?
- RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what structures and supports currently in place do those involved in co-teaching believe contribute to the success of the co-teaching model?
- RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional support systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?

This chapter is structured into three main sections: (1) researcher positionality, (2) data collection and analysis, which includes participant profiles, and (3) findings from a thematic analysis corresponding to each of the four overarching research questions.

Researcher Positionality

The researcher is a current practicing special education district-level employee.

Previously the researcher piloted a co-teaching program at an elementary school in their

district of employment. A comprehensive grasp of special education best practices and policies shape the researcher's positionality as a researcher. The researcher's experiences advocating for students with disabilities and navigating conversation around implementing a co-teaching pilot program helped inform the researcher's inquiries throughout this study and guide the researcher to further explore teacher perspectives of co-teaching. The researcher approached the research with an objective lens and

completed a structured ethical reflection to analyze their implicit bias. The hidden values and basic beliefs in action research act like a compass, guiding researchers toward a research style that is all about democracy, freedom, and making life better (Stringer et al., 2021). The researcher's personal experience of being a former special education coteacher and general education co-teacher shaped the researcher's passion for co-teaching after witnessing the positive impacts that intentional co-teaching practices were able to have on former students of the researcher. They acknowledged their strong passion for co-teaching and understood the importance of listening to participants during the semistructured interviews without imposing their own personal influence or bias as a researcher. The researcher ensured to maintain control over their communication with participants to ensure that their own feelings, opinions, or emotions didn't overshadow the voices of the participants or their experiences. The researcher conducted semistructured interviews without injecting personal beliefs or core values into the data collection process. They aimed to maintain their objectivity to avoid potential risks such as exerting personal biased perspectives. The researcher's goal was to conduct the research with deliberate intentionality and objectivity, with the goal of striving to remain neutral while staying mindful of potential influences.

Role Theory and Critical Disability Theory

Role theory and critical disability theory offered the researcher a valuable perspective for conducting research on teacher perspectives of co-teaching. Both role theory and critical disability theory each contributed unique insights and considerations to the study. Role Theory provided a framework for understanding teachers' various roles in co-taught classrooms and how these roles influence their attitudes and experiences (Holland & Skinner, 1987).

When conducting semi-structured interviews for this research, the researcher was able to explore how teachers perceive their roles within co-teaching partnerships (Holland & Skinner, 1987). By examining role clarity, role conflict, and role ambiguity, the researcher was able to gain further insight into how teachers' perceptions of their roles may impact their attitudes and thoughts of co-teaching (Biddle, 1979). In the context of research on teacher perspectives of co-teaching, critical disability theory offered insights into how inclusive practices of co-teaching are conceptualized and implemented in educational settings (Campbell & Oliver, 1996). Through the lens of critical disability theory, researchers can thoroughly examine possible underlying assumptions and dynamics present in co-teaching relationships between two co-teachers (Campbell & Oliver, 1996).

By employing role theory and critical disability theory within the study design, the researcher was able to delve into various aspects of teacher perspectives of coteaching and student success. This included looking at the roles teachers take on in coteaching environments as well as taking a closer look at co-teaching dynamics. By doing this, the researcher gained a deeper insight to teacher perspectives of co-teaching

especially with how co-planning time, administrator support, and professional development has on student success.

Data Collection and Analysis Overview

Analyzing qualitative data involves several stages, starting with formulating questions, followed by discovery, comprehensive reading, and interpretation of the study (Scott, 2013). In this study, data came from semi-structured interviews conducted through Microsoft Teams. After data collection, the next step was transcribing the semi structured interviews. Patterns and meanings were identified across the data sets using a thematic analysis approach. This was accomplished using a five-step process: immersion in the data to gain familiarity by reading and re-reading, coding with annotations, visual representation to discern themes through color coding, condensing the transcriptions by reviewing identified themes, and interpretation to formulate thematic categories (Boyatzis, 1998). All interviews were transcribed using Microsoft Teams. Initially, manual coding captured significant quotes throughout the transcriptions. This was followed by in-vivo coding to derive codes directly from participants' words. Data collected through manual coding was then analyzed based on common themes for each research question. Thematic analysis of the transcripts was also utilized to help identify patterns of themes.

Participant Profiles

All 10 participants in this study were either special education or general education teachers in grades kindergarten through five and were, at the time of their participation in the study, involved in a co-teaching model within the Ohio Valley Educational Cooperative (OVEC) during the 2023-2024 school year. The ten participants represented

educators from several public school districts within OVEC. Thirteen potential participants were contacted, and ten confirmed their participation. Ten teachers were randomly chosen as participants, and all completed the consent form (appendix C). The breakdown of participants is included in Table 1 with their identifier, gender, years of teaching experience, and years of experience involved in a co-teaching model.

Demographic of Participants

Table 1

Participant	Gender	Certificate	Years as a Co-
			Teacher
A	Female	Special Education	9 years
В	Female	Special Education	7 years
С	Female	Special Education	3 years
D	Female	Special Education	4 years
Е	Female	General Education	15 years
F	Female	Dual Certified	10 years
G	Female	General Education	8 years
Н	Female	Dual Certified	5 years
I	Female	General Education	9 years
J	Female	General Education	7 years

Note: Participants' names are pseudonyms to protect identity.

Findings from Thematic Analysis

Themes for each of the four research questions were developed after the data transcriptions were coded using deductive and inductive, or In Vivo, coding. The first round of emerging themes were organized and derived using two strategies. Common themes emerged with the use of anecdotal note taking capturing the relevant quotes of participants during interviews and from transcripts. Thoughtful and impactful quotes were captured during the initial manual coding phase from a series of readings of the

transcripts to increase familiarity. The purpose of this was to help the researcher understand the context as well as to identify key themes that emerged throughout the interviews. Transcripts were highlighted for significant information through annotation. The second organizational strategy was initial coding. Labels were assigned to sections of the text to identify powerful and recurring themes utilized was grouping the data according to which responses related specifically to each individual research question. Data was electronically organized in a spreadsheet based on commonality grouping. This process was completed for research questions one through four. The following table details the codes and themes that emerged as a result of the coding process by identifying first-order codes, second-order codes, and final themes.

Table 4
Emergent Codes/Themes

Research Question	First-Order Codes	Second Order Codes	Themes
RQ 1: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?	Inclusion of students with disabilities is beneficial for all students Experience co-teaching with an effective special education teacher Belief that students with disabilities can be	Positive pre- disposition towards students with disabilities Knowledgeable special education co-teacher	Inclusion
RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?	Student Behavior that arises and pulls the special ed teacher away from their co-teaching assignment Pre-determined division of co-teacher responsibilities Relationship between special education teacher and general education co-teaching pairs	General education teacher knowledge of co-teaching practices and expectations	Relationships and empathy
RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what structures and supports currently in place do those involved in co-	Frequent and intentional collaborative planning time between coteachers Professional development	Opportunities to grow as educators, specifically in the co-teaching model Support from your co-teaching partner	Opportunity and Support

teaching believe contribute to the success of the coteaching model?	opportunities on the coteaching model, particularly in parallel and station teaching Administrators who are knowledgeable and supportive of coteaching expectations	built through a positive relationship Intentional pairing of co-teachers prior to implementation	
RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional supports systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?	Professional development opportunities made available prior to and concurrent with coteaching implementation for regular education and special education teacher Master schedule that allows for built-in planning time across all co-teaching assignments	Professional and personal growth through collaboration	Collaboration and Trust

Theme derived from research question #1: Inclusion

RQ 1: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success.

Four of the ten interviewees were current regular education teachers. All four interviewees had a passion for working with students with disabilities that emerged in their interview responses. Three of the four regular education interviewees either had close friendships or family members who were special education teachers, which impacted their outlook and disposition towards the overall theme of inclusion.

First-order coding: Of all four interviews conducted with regular education teachers, there was an emergent theme of a positive predisposition towards inclusion being beneficial not only for students with disabilities but also for general education students. Of the four teachers interviewed, all of them mentioned having the most student success through the co-teaching model when having had the opportunity to co-teacher with a special education teacher who was knowledgeable and effective when implementing co-teaching strategies. Although the general education teachers may not have had a robust knowledge of co-teaching implementation strategies, they had a special education co-teacher who was knowledgeable and supported them while working collaboratively.

Table 5: Quotes from research question one and first-order coding: Theme of inclusion

Research Question	First order coding leading to theme	Participant	Sample Quote
RQ 1: For those actively involved in a	• Inclusion of students with		I think it's amazing. I think from what I have

co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?	disabilities is beneficial for all students • Experience co-teaching with an effective special education teacher	seen, keeping kids especially special needs kids in the classroom is so beneficial because they learn so much from their peers and just being in the classroom environment.
	Belief that students with disabilities can be successful	

Overall, the first-round themes of the general education co-teacher's perceived benefits and challenges of co-teaching, positive predisposition towards inclusion, experience working with an effective special education co-teacher, and belief that students with disabilities can be successful contribute to the overarching theme of inclusion. This was highlighted through the importance of collaboration, effective practices, and supportive environments in creating inclusive educational experiences for all students, including those of students with disabilities.

Second-order coding: Next, the researcher used in-vivo coding through a deeper evaluation of the first-order themes. This involved a second order of coding and assigning labels to specific phrases and words that came directly from the participant interview transcripts. With the aim to capture the participants' own language and their perspectives, the second-order themes of having a positive pre-disposition towards students with

disabilities and co-teaching with a knowledgeable special education co-teacher were derived. Participant G shared, "Last year and this year have been better for me because I've been working with a co-teacher that I get along well with personally and professionally. We just vibe well with each other. We build off of each other and our personalities go really well together."

Table 6: Quotes from research question one and second-order coding: Theme of inclusion

Research Question	Second-order coding leading to theme	Participant Sample	Quote
RQ 1: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?	 Positive predisposition towards students with disabilities Knowledgeable special education coteacher 	Participant F Participant G	So I would say it was definitely effective and then working with the teachers like so we would sit down and look at all of the different activities and lessons that you would do within one school day and then broke it up over OK, this, this part I would feel comfortable taking lead on. Last year and this year have been better for me because I've been working with a co-teacher that I get along well with personally and professionally. We just vibe really well with each other. We build off of each

The participants in this study indicated their love and desire for working with students with disabilities in an inclusive setting. It is evident that they have a passion for advocating for inclusive classrooms through the practice of co-teaching. Although none of the regular education teachers are special education teachers by trade, they recognized the importance of creating an inclusive classroom, and this is possible through collaboration with an effective special education co-teacher and a positive predisposition towards co-teaching and openness to collaboration leading to the overall identified theme of inclusion for research question one.

Theme derived from research question #2: Relationships and Empathy

RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?

The theme of relationships and empathy emerged from research question two which explored the perceptions of special education teachers engaged in a co-teaching model regarding its connection to student success. Within the context of co-teaching, where both general and special education teachers are expected to collaborate closely and frequently to support learners of diverse needs, the emphasis on relationships becomes paramount for student success. Questions 6, 9, and 11 emerged the themes of relationships and empathy. Co-teachers working within a co-teaching setting may be more likely to develop strong connections with their co-teaching partners that they support on a collaborative level. These relationships are characterized by mutual respect

for one another but also incorporate trust and understanding. Therefore, the theme of relationships and empathy submerged from the semi-structured interviews that occurred regarding research question number two.

First Order Coding: First order coding for research question two uncovered the first order coding theme of student behavior and other duties having an impact on coteaching and student success, division of co-teaching responsibilities, and the importance of a positive and healthy working relationship between co-teachers.

Table 7: Quotes from research question two and first order coding: Relationships and Empathy

Research Question	First order coding leading to theme	Participant	Sample Quote
RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?	 Student Behavior and other duties having an impact on co-teaching success Division of co-teaching responsibilities 	Participant D	I would say the main reason that would happen the most often is there would be a lot of times when a student is kind of in crisis, so what you plan on doing during your planning period doesn't always get to be done.
	The importance of a positive and healthy working relationship between co- teachers	Participant J	But then I think as a school year gets going and you're thrown curveballs left and right, the weight of everything that is needed to be a good teacher can be a lot.

Participant E	Some days it's like triage, but other days it's, you know, it's like, this is so great. It's such an awesome day. So those are the days we live for.
Participant A	Yes, there's conversation and conversation with the regular teacher saying, would you be open to this? And how would you feel about sharing your classroom? How would you feel about sharing planning? How would you feel about differentiation if a test had to be modified?

First Order Coding: First-order coding involved the initial stage of analyzing and rereading interview responses to identify and categorize key themes or concepts. For research question number two, concerning the perceptions of special education teachers involved in a co-teaching model, first-order coding allowed the researcher to gain a deeper understanding of the interview transcripts to identify relevant statements and quotes related to the connection between co-teaching and student success. For research question number two focused on special education teachers' perceptions regarding the connection of co-teaching and student success, the first-order coding process involved identifying specific statements from the interview data that related to special education

teacher's perceptions of co-teaching connections to student success. These statements were then grouped into thematic categories that emerged during the coding process.

The first theme that emerged from the first-order coding was related to student behavior and other duties associated with being a special education teacher. This theme highlighted challenges such as handling student behavior issues and attending meetings that may disrupt the co-teaching assignment due to the special education teacher being pulled in many directions. It also emphasized the importance of understanding and flexibility from the general education teacher when these situations arise. The second theme identified through first-order coding revolved around the pre-determined and agreed-upon division of co-teacher responsibilities. This theme emphasized the collaborative nature of co-teaching, wherein both the general education and special education teacher discuss and agree upon their respective roles and responsibilities to ensure effective collaboration in the classroom. A quote provided by Participant E emphasized the first-order coding outcomes,

Some days it's like triage, but other days it's, you know, it's like, this is so great. It's such an awesome day. So those are the days we live for." The third theme that emerged from the first-order coding process emphasized the importance of cultivating a positive and healthy working relationship between special education teachers and general education co-teaching pairs. This theme highlighted the importance of trust, communication, and mutual respect in fostering a supportive and inclusive learning environment for all students.

(Participant E, 2024)

Overall, the first-order coding process involved systematically analyzing the interview data to identify the key themes discussed above and how those key themes related to special education teachers' perceptions regarding the connection between coteaching and student success. These themes provided valuable insights for the researcher into the dynamics of co-teaching relationships and their impact on student outcomes in inclusive classrooms.

Second-order coding: Upon further analysis of the transcripts, a deeper evaluation was conducted during the second-order coding process, which led to the application of in vivo coding techniques. This method allowed the researcher to explore the data further, capturing the participants' own language and expressions to capture their perspectives. The interviewed practicing special education co-teachers emphasized the critical significance of general education teachers' understanding of co-teaching practices. Participant F shared the following statement, "I would say that the impact is extremely beneficial. I have also had really good co-teaching experiences. So I think that that's probably why I feel that way is because we always have a lot of resources on like effective co-teaching strategies and they involve both like regular classroom teachers in that and special Ed teachers so that we can really become a team." Their insight and responses emphasized the correlation between general educators' familiarity with co-teaching strategies built through relationships and empathy and the subsequent student success.

Table 8: Quotes from research question two and second-order coding: Relationships and Empathy

Research Question	Second-order coding leading to theme	Participant Sample	Quote
RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?	General education teacher knowledge of co-teaching practices and expectations	Participant F	I would say that the impact is extremely beneficial. I have also had really good coteaching experiences. So I think that that's probably why I feel that way is because we always have a lot of resources on like effective co-teaching strategies and they involve both like regular classroom teachers in that and special Ed teachers so that we can really become a team

The quote provided by Participant F sheds a light in which how a positive perception of the impact of co-teaching on student learning. The participant used language such as "extremely beneficial" based on their experiences to describe their perceptions of co-teaching. The mention of "really good co-teaching experiences" suggests that the effectiveness of co-teaching strategies contributes to their positive perception toward co-teaching and the connection to student success. A theme derived from the interview transcripts, attributing the success of co-teaching to the involvement of both the regular education classroom teacher and special education teacher, which emphasized the importance of collaboration and teamwork in implementing effective co-teaching practices. Overall, the transcripts and second-order coding highlight the significance of the knowledge of general education teachers in the area of co-teaching

practices and collaboration among educators in creating and implementing successful coteaching practices.

Theme derived from research question #3: Opportunity and Support

RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what structures and supports currently in place do those involved in co-teaching believe contribute to the success of the co-teaching model?

Research question number three investigates the support structures in place that are considered essential by general education and special education teachers actively engaged in co-teaching and their connection to student success. From the semi-structured interviews, the themes of Opportunity and Support emerged from the participant's language. Eight of the ten participants shared the previous positive experiences and benefits from receiving professional learning but also the desire for more professional learning opportunities and support from administrators in this area. All ten participants mentioned the benefits of co-planning times, and out of those, all of them also believed that they did not have enough co-planning time to ensure student success.

Effective co-teaching depends on having solid systems in place and the right kind of support, such as support from the administration, professional development opportunities, access to resources, clear lines of communication, and fostering a positive school atmosphere (Perry, 2017). Digging into the participants' language through their interview responses and how their responses shed light on how Opportunity and Support within schools affect teacher perspectives of co-teaching and the connection to student success. The participant's language helped to emerge them theme of Opportunity and Support in fostering a successful co-teaching environment as well as understanding its link to student success.

First Order Coding: Building administrator and co-teaching partner support play a crucial role in creating a positive perception of co-teaching practices among educators. When one participant was asked about administrator support for co-teaching, she believed that she did have the administrator support. However, her response alluded to it being due to mandates rather than student success. Participant B stated, "OK, I feel like they supported it in a sense that it needed to be done or they would be breaking the law. But I do not feel like they supported it in a sense that it needed to be done well in order to help students meet their needs." Other participants felt support from their administrators and/or co-teaching pair. Participant Carly shared, "The closer that I was to the co-teacher, the more effective our co-teaching practices were for students." This participant also felt a strong sense of support from their building principal. In some scenarios, teachers had building support through their co-teaching partner and their building administration. Participant F shared, "One of the years that I taught special Ed, I co-taught in a classroom and we actually did a co-teaching lab where people came in and watched us do different kinds of co-teaching and then we had a meeting after school and debriefed." This participant also shared that this was set up by their building administration in collaboration with district special education administrators.

Table 9: Quotes from research question three and first order coding: Opportunity and Support

Research Question	First order coding leading to theme	Participant	Sample Quote
RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what	 Frequent and intentional collaborative planning time 	Participant F	The closer that I was to the co-teacher, the more effective our co-

structures and supports currently in place do those involved in coteaching believe contribute to the success of the coteaching model? • Professional development opportunities on the co-teaching model, particularly in parallel and station teaching • Administrators who are knowledgeable and supportive of coteaching expectations between coteachers • Professional development opportunities on the co-teaching model, particularly in parallel and station teaching • Administrators who are knowledgeable and supportive of coteaching expectations • Administrators who are knowledgeable and supportive of coteaching expectations • Professional development opportunities on the co-teaching and we actually did a co-teaching lab where people came in and watched us do different kinds of co-teaching after school and debriefed. So I have done that as well where we've modeled coteaching. We did parallel teaching as one of them where we were both teaching at the same time and everybody in school was like, I've never actually done that but they loved it.
involved in coteaching believe contribute to the success of the coteaching model? • Professional development opportunities on the co-teaching model, particularly in parallel and station teaching • Administrators who are knowledgeable and supportive of coteaching expectations • Administrators who are knowledgeable and supportive of coteaching expectations • Professional development opportunities on the co-teaching model, particularly in parallel and station teaching • Administrators who are knowledgeable and supportive of coteaching expectations • Participant F • Administrators watched us do different kinds of co-teaching and then we had a meeting after school and debriefed. So I have done that as well where we've modeled coteaching. We did parallel teaching as one of them where we were both teaching at the same time and everybody in school was like, I've never actually done that but they loved

The support and guidance from the co-teaching partner and administrators provided reassurance and validation. This also showed the participants that they were "in it" with the teachers in their buildings and not just a bystander in co-teaching practices. The ongoing collaboration and professional learning opportunities actively involved addressing challenges and providing resources to foster an environment of trust and collaboration, enhancing overall perspectives and effectiveness of co-teaching.

Second-order coding: Deeper evaluation and examination of the transcripts resulted in in vivo coding during the second-order coding process for RQ 3. Participant D shared an insightful thought regarding time to reflect and grow with their co-teaching

partner being crucial to student success, "I think maybe having time to reflect on the coteaching practices, specifically how those are working, is better than just reflecting on a lesson and creating a new lesson." All ten participants interviewed believed that having intentional time to reflect with their co-teaching was crucial to the connection between co-teaching implementation and student success. Participant D's quote stood out due to the nature of the statement being student-centered and not teacher centered.

Table 10: Quotes from research question three and second-order coding: Opportunity and Support

Research Question	Second-order coding leading to theme	Participant Sample	Quote
RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what structures and supports currently in place do those involved in co-teaching believe contribute to the success of the co-teaching model?	 Opportunities to grow as educators, specifically in the co-teaching model Support from your co-teaching partner built through a positive relationship Intentional pairing of co-teachers prior to implementation 	Participant G Participant D	So the hardest challenges I would say would just be student behavior and working together to just find a way to help those students so that they can be successful and all the other students can be successful. I think maybe having time to reflect on the co-teaching practices, specifically how those are working, is better than just reflecting on a lesson and creating a new lesson.
		Participant B	I feel like you really have to. I think the administrator has to

	think about how they are pairing the ECE teacher and the Gen. Ed teacher. I kind of refer to it and previously it's it's like a marriage. Almost. You kind of have to sit down and think about what are your non-negotiables and kind of work through those
	those.

The responses to the third research question revealed a relationship between both general education and special education teachers' beliefs about how Opportunity and Support in various forms help to meet the needs of their students and the connections of co-teaching to student success. One veteran teacher shared her experience with co-teaching as a special education teacher, "So I would say it was definitely effective and then working with the general education teachers we like. We would sit down and look at all of the different activities and lessons that you would do within one school day and then break it up over who felt most comfortable with each task and who would take the lead on that task." This veteran teacher shared how their building principal's support for co-teaching and creating a master schedule that allowed time for co-planning was essential to creating opportunities for co-planning. It was also notable that several teachers interviewed mentioned their opportunities for professional development or lack thereof, affected their beliefs towards co-teaching and the connection to student success. Six teachers feel that they did have the proper amount of professional development but

would have also preferred ongoing professional development throughout their coteaching assignment provided concurrently with implementation.

Theme derived from research question #4: Collaboration and Trust

RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional support systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?

The research study participants emphasized the importance of teacher perspectives of co-teaching and additional support systems needed for a successful implementation. In addition, the support offered and any additional support needed will directly impact a teacher's perception of the effectiveness of co-teaching and the connection to student success. Nine participants shared the importance of collaboration and trust. Questions 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 of the semi-structured interviews are aligned to the fourth research question and provide insight into the perceptions of general education and special education co-teachers when it comes to additional support systems needed for the successful implementation of co-teaching.

First Order Coding: The quotes highlight the significance of professional development opportunities and scheduling considerations in facilitating effective coteaching partnerships. The first quote by Participant C underscores the importance of having a master schedule that allows both regular education and special education teachers to have built-in planning time during the day, "When the principal creates a schedule that you know is not conducive to having both teachers available to plan during the day, then that becomes an issue, right." This aligns with the need for collaborative planning mentioned in the quote, ensuring that co-teachers have dedicated time to co-plan

effectively. Additionally, participant C made a reference to using a walkthrough tool, "We used a walkthrough tool. We had coaches and administrators that came through and used it and then just kind of used that as a gauge to see how well we were doing or what professional learning we may need more of." This quote indicated a proactive approach to professional learning and development by this participant's administrator.

Table 11: Quotes from research question four and first order coding: Collaboration and Trust

Research Question	First order coding leading to theme	Participant	Sample Quote
RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional support systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?	Professional development opportunities made available prior to and concurrent with coteaching implementation for regular education and special education teacher Master schedule that allows for built-in planning time across all co-teaching assignments	Participant J Participant C	More education for coteachers or teachers newer to Co teaching. I shouldn't say newer teachers, just teachers that have never really co-taught. we used a walkthrough tool. We had coaches and administrators that came through and used it and then just kind of used that as a gauge to see how well we were doing or what professional learning we may need more of
		Participant H	Right now in January, I'm getting a new student. I think next week and I met with the teacher and she was like, can we do Co teaching every day? And I was

Participant C	like, all I have left is my lunch time. That's all that's left in my schedule. I have 20 to 30 minutes every day. And so when the principal creates a schedule that you know is not conducive to having both teachers available to plan during
	available to plan during the day, then that becomes an issue, right.

These quotes illustrate the importance of building trust through intentional relationship-building, shared responsibilities, and support from administrators in fostering effective co-teaching partnerships.

Second-Order Coding: Collaboration and trust are paramount for the success of co-teaching models in education. The theme of professional growth through collaboration emerged through second-order coding and further analysis of the interview transcripts. Educators engaging in co-teaching partnerships often rely on their ability to work harmoniously with one another to support student learning effectively. As stated by Participant A, "Co-teaching can be very powerful, but it's dependent upon who you're Co-teaching with and whether you've taken the time to intentionally work on your relationship with that Co-teacher." Participant A indicates that co-teaching can be very powerful and can have significant benefits for students when done well. However, the transcript highlights that these benefits are contingent on the compatibility and collaborative efforts of the co-teachers. There is an emphasis on the importance of

deliberately investing time and energy into fostering a positive working relationship with the co-teacher to maximize the potential impact of co-teaching on student success.

Table 12: Quotes from research question four and second order coding: Collaboration and Trust

Research Question	Second-order coding leading to theme	Participant Sample	Quote
RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional support systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?	Professional and personal growth through collaboration	Participant D	I think that having more opportunities to see Co teaching and other schools would it would be, it would have been helpful versus just having the one I think talking about it.
		Participant A	So Co-teaching can be very powerful, but it's dependent upon who you're Co-teaching with and whether you've taken the time to intentionally work on your relationship with that Co-teacher.
		Participant A	So that was another big factor. Not only did the principal support Coteaching and push for that, but my direct administrator also pushed for it. And so that allowed for us to have that intentional time that

	was almost like sacred time.	
--	------------------------------	--

The results of second order coding emerged the themes of Collaboration and Trust. Highlighted throughout the interview transcripts, there is a critical role of administrators' support in fostering collaboration and trust within a co-teaching partnership for student success. The mention of the principal and direct administrator pushing for co-teaching demonstrates Participant A's administrator's commitment to co-teaching, which created an environment conducive to collaborative efforts. By advocating for co-teaching and providing dedicated time for planning and collaboration, the leadership establishes a foundation of support for co-teaching, throughout the interview transcripts, themes related to how leadership support can facilitate the establishment of trust and collaboration, contributing to the success of co-teaching initiatives.

Summary of Chapter IV

The perceptions of 10 general education and special education teachers were highlighted after an analysis of the semi-structured interview transcripts. Transcripts were coded through deductive and inductive coding. Deductive and inductive coding themes were derived from the quotes and sentiments shared by participants regarding their experiences as co-teachers within the OVEC in grades kindergarten through five. Implications and recommendations are given in chapter five will focus on the teacher's perceptions of co-teaching found in this current chapter. Chapter five will also discuss suggestions for future research as well as recommendations for policy change within education.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR $\label{future} FUTURE\ RESEARCH$

In this chapter, I share the conclusions drawn after interviewing ten teachers across grades kindergarten through five in the Ohio Valley Education Cooperative. These semi-structured one-on-one interviews focused on understanding teachers' perspectives of co-teaching, specifically examining how they perceive the impact of administrator support, the professional development provided to them, and co-planning. Through the coding process and analysis of the interviews, I aimed to uncover and share insights that inform future practices and research in the effectiveness of co-teaching and student success.

- RQ 1: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?
- RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?
- RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what structures and supports currently in place do those involved in co-teaching believe contribute to the success of the co-teaching model?
- RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional support systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?

Implications

RQ 1: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?

Interpretations

Several key interpretations emerged when analyzing the data regarding general education teachers' perceptions of the connection between co-teaching and student success in co-taught classrooms. A prevalent positive disposition towards inclusion was evident amongst the general education teachers interviewed. This indicated a belief in the advantages of co-taught classrooms not only for students with disabilities but also for their peers when working with an effective and collaborative special education teacher. General education teachers interviewed who recognized and acknowledged the benefits of co-taught classrooms alluded to understanding and holding value in co-teaching practices.

The data reinforced the critical role played by having an effective special education co-teacher when implementing successful co-teaching strategies and connection to student success. The general education teachers interviewed consistently highlighted the importance of collaborating with knowledgeable and skilled special education co-teachers. The semi-structured interview analysis recognizes the coinciding expertise and contributions an effective special education co-teacher brings to the co-teaching partnership. It suggests that successful co-teaching relies on collaborating with a pairing of teachers with skills and knowledge between general and special education teachers rather than solely on the efforts of one of the co-teachers.

Additionally, the interpretations revealed the passion the general education teachers interviewed exhibited in working with students with disabilities in inclusive settings. This passion seemed to extend beyond their job requirements when being chosen to be a co-teacher and indicates a genuine commitment to advocating for inclusive classrooms. It suggests that these educators view inclusion as more than just a pedagogical teaching approach but as a foundation for equity within their schools.

Overall, these interpretations paint a picture of general education teachers who are not only cognizant of the benefits of collaboratively co-taught classrooms and effective co-teaching practices but who also possess a genuine passion for creating inclusive learning environments. This suggests a readiness and willingness among general education teachers to embrace inclusive practices and collaborate effectively when co-teaching with an effective special education teacher to promote equity and inclusion.

Implications

Schools should prioritize initiatives aimed at supporting collaborative partnerships between general and special education teachers. These initiatives should be done intentionally with a clear plan for implementation. Providing resources and professional development opportunities to enhance teamwork and instructional delivery among general education and special education co-teachers should be prioritized.

In addition, the findings emphasized the passion exhibited by teachers for working with students with disabilities in inclusive settings, underscoring the need to nurture and celebrate educators' commitment to inclusive education. Administrators should cultivate a culture within their buildings that values and supports co-teaching practices amongst general education and special education teachers, providing avenues

for professional growth opportunities prior to and concurrent with implementing coteaching practices. Furthermore, the importance of creating supportive environments that facilitate collaboration and communication among co-teaching teams was highlighted, emphasizing the need for schools to foster shared responsibility amongst co-teachers for student success.

Finally, the data pointed to the significance of having a personal connection and professional compatibility between co-teachers in effectively collaborating. This suggests the importance of efforts to foster the relationship dynamics conducive to collaborative co-teaching practices. In summary, the interpretations drawn from the data underscore the importance of promoting positive attitudes towards inclusion, supporting collaborative partnerships, nurturing educators' passion for inclusive education, creating supportive environments, and facilitating personal connections among co-teachers to enhance student success through co-teaching practices in inclusive classrooms.

RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?

Interpretations

The data analysis findings for research question two highlight significant insights into special education teachers' perceptions of the connection between co-teaching and student success. A prominent theme of relationships and empathy emerged, highlighting the crucial role of interpersonal professional connections and understanding when working in a co-teaching environment. Special education teachers emphasized the importance of cultivating strong relationships with their co-teaching partners. Strong

relationships are characterized by mutual respect, trust, and empathy. These relationships are seen as a fundamental part for effective collaboration and, ultimately, student success when related to teacher perceptions of co-teaching. From the semi-structured interviews, it was evident that relationships and empathy are essential components for co-teaching collaboration and, ultimately, student success. Empathy plays a primary role in shaping these relationships. Special education teachers are frequently pulled from their coteaching assignment for emergencies that may arise such as student behavior concerns or special education team meetings. This requires empathy and understanding from the general education teacher when the special education teacher may not always be as present as they would like to be. Additionally, teachers by nature, typically possess a heightened sense of empathy. This heightened sense of empathy enables them to better understand their students' unique needs and challenges, which is more likely to lead to student success. Within the context of a co-teaching setting, this empathy often flows into their collaboration as co-teachers. Through the lens and disposition of having an empathetic understanding, teachers can more effectively tailor their support and collaboration efforts for student success.

Additionally, the data highlighted the challenges faced by special education teachers, including addressing student behavior issues and attending to administrative duties that may interrupt their co-teaching assignments. Despite these challenges, special education teachers highlighted the importance of recognition of the challenges and demonstrated flexibility from their general education counterparts. This supported the need for supportive and accommodating co-teaching partnerships to effectively address students' diverse needs when in a co-teaching partnership. Lastly, the findings related to

research question two emphasized the collaborative nature of co-teaching, with both general and special education teachers discussing and agreeing upon their respective roles and responsibilities. This was highlighted by the study participants as an area of importance to increase effective collaboration and student success.

Implications

These interpretations have several implications for practice and research around co-teaching to support student success. Professional development and training programs that build strong relationships and foster empathy among co-teaching partners are needed. Co-teaching educators should be equipped with the skills and strategies necessary to establish supportive and collaborative working relationships with clearly defined roles that promote student success.

It is crucial for schools to recognize the unique challenges that special education teachers face when in co-teaching settings and supporting students with various needs across multiple grade levels, such as managing student behavior and handling additional responsibilities. By providing adequate support and resources tailored to these specific areas, schools can help alleviate these challenges and empower special education teachers to actively participate in co-teaching partnerships. This support can enhance collaboration between general and special education teachers, ultimately benefiting student learning and success in co-teaching classrooms. Additionally, the collaborative nature of co-teaching spotlights the importance of clear communication and mutual understanding between co-teaching pairs. Administrators should support in facilitating open communication channels and promote a culture of collaboration and teamwork among

general education and special education teacher pairs to enhance the effectiveness of coteaching practices.

Overall, the interpretations of the data highlight the importance of relationships, empathy, and collaboration in co-teaching environments. This offers valuable insights for co-teachers, administrators, and future researchers who may strive to promote student success in co-teaching partnerships and inclusive classroom settings to increase student success.

RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what structures and supports currently in place do those involved in co-teaching believe contribute to the success of the co-teaching model?

Interpretations

The data analysis findings for research question three reveal the key components and supports that general and special education teachers involved in co-teaching practices believe are important for successful co-teaching. Firstly, the themes of opportunity and support emerged from the participants' language related to research question three. This indicated the critical role of these factors in contributing to effective co-teaching practices and ultimately enhancing student success. The participants expressed a desire for more professional learning opportunities, particularly for professional learning concurrent with their co-teaching assignment. Four participants expressed interest in professional learning specifically related to the six different co-teaching models. The participants also shared a desire for increased support from administrators, highlighting the importance of ongoing professional development and administrative backing and understanding how to promote successful co-teaching partnerships.

Additionally, the data emphasized the significance of intentional co-planning time in facilitating collaboration and instructional planning among co-teaching pairs. All participants shared that they often collaborate via email while passing one another in the hallway, text message, or after school hours but believe intentional co-planning time would allow for increased effectiveness of their co-teaching implementation. Despite recognizing the benefits of co-planning, participants expressed concerns about the insufficient time allocated for this purpose, emphasizing the need for adequate resources and structures to support effective co-planning practices.

Implications

These interpretations have several implications for practice and policy in the areas of co-teaching and promoting inclusive education. Schools and educational institutions should prioritize providing professional learning opportunities and support structures tailored to the needs of co-teaching pairs. Administrators should actively support and facilitate ongoing professional development initiatives for both the general education and special education teacher to enhance co-teaching effectiveness and promote collaborative practices within their buildings.

Secondly, schools should allocate sufficient time and resources for co-planning activities, with the goal of recognizing the important role of collaborative planning when facilitating effective instructional delivery and implementing co-teaching practices. Coteachers should advocate for and assist in negotiating for adequate co-planning time within their school schedules, ensuring that co-teaching pairs have the necessary opportunities to plan and coordinate their instructional efforts effectively. This could be done by school administrators ensuring that the team lead for the school's special

education department is included in the planning process when creating the master schedule.

The findings also display the importance of building a supportive school culture that values and prioritizes collaboration and teamwork among co-teaching pairs.

Administrators should foster and model a positive school atmosphere that encourages open communication, mutual respect, and collaboration, with the goal in mind of enhancing the overall effectiveness of co-teaching practices to promote student success. In summary, the interpretations drawn from the data highlight the crucial role of structures for opportunity and support in fostering successful co-teaching partnerships that enhance student success.

RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional support systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?

Interpretations

The research participants alluded to and discussed the pivotal role of additional support systems in facilitating successful co-teaching practices. Collaboration and trust emerged as central themes. This emphasizes the importance of fostering positive working relationships and shared responsibilities among co-teaching partners. The quotes highlighted in Chapter Four display the significance of professional development opportunities and scheduling considerations when aiming to support effective co-teaching partnerships. Additionally, the data emphasizes that a proactive approach to professional learning offered and supported by administrators indicates a commitment to fostering a supportive environment conducive to effective co-teaching practices.

Implications

These interpretations have several implications for practice in the realm of coteaching and inclusive education. Schools and educational institutions need to prioritize the provision of professional development opportunities with an intentional and specific focus on fostering collaboration and trust among co-teaching pairs. The professional development should be provided to both co-teaching partners. Administrators should also support and facilitate ongoing professional learning initiatives to enhance co-teaching effectiveness and promote collaborative practices while also being an active participant in the offered professional development. This will allow administrators to understand the expectations of co-teaching and while learning alongside the teachers in their buildings. Secondly, schools should ensure that scheduling considerations allow for dedicated time for co-teachers to engage in collaborative planning and instructional preparation. This requires a proactive approach to master scheduling, ensuring that co-teachers have a voice in the master schedule planning.

In summary, the interpretations drawn from the data highlight the importance of collaboration, trust, and leadership support in facilitating successful co-teaching. These insights offer valuable guidance for educators and administrators who may be seeking to promote effective co-teaching practices and create inclusive learning environments aimed at student success.

Recommendations

Educational Policy Recommendations

Educational policy recommendations in this chapter should prioritize several key initiatives with the goal of enhancing the effectiveness of co-teaching practices and promoting student success when implementing co-teaching practices. Post-secondary

learning institutions should prioritize professional development opportunities tailored to fostering collaboration, trust, and effective co-teaching practices among general and special education teachers. These initiatives should be offered regularly to support ongoing growth and development. I believe future educators pursuing both general education K-12 teacher degrees and special education teaching degrees should be provided as part of co-teaching practicum requirement and experiences.

Secondly, schools must be required to allocate sufficient time within their schedules for co-teachers to engage in collaborative planning and instructional preparation while recognizing the crucial role of dedicated co-planning time in facilitating effective co-teaching partnerships. Administrators should work with teachers to negotiate and advocate for this dedicated time with school district-level decision-makers. Additionally, fostering a supportive school culture that values and prioritizes collaboration, communication, and teamwork among educators is essential.

Administrators should create regular opportunities for open dialogue, mutual respect, and shared decision-making to enhance the overall effectiveness of co-teaching practices. The educators implementing co-teaching practices should have a voice in the decision-making at the school and district level when related to co-teaching expectations and requirements. These policy recommendations aim to create environments where co-teaching thrives, and all students have the opportunity to succeed.

Recommendations for Future Research

Moving forward, future research in this area should aim to delve deeper into several key areas to enhance our understanding of co-teaching practices and the impact on student success. There is a need for longitudinal studies to explore the long-term

effects of co-teaching partnerships on student outcomes, academic achievement, and social-emotional development. Longitudinal research has the capability to provide valuable insights into the sustained effectiveness of co-teaching practices over time and identify any potential variations or trends that may emerge.

Secondly, researchers should investigate specific factors that contribute to developing and maintaining effective co-teaching partnerships. This includes dynamics of interpersonal relationships amongst co-teaching pairs, communication strategies utilized in effective co-teaching partnerships, and collaborative planning processes and requirements. Understanding these factors can help inform the design of targeted and intentional professional development programs and support structures for co-teachers to ensure that the follow-up support is done with integrity and fidelity.

Future research should explore the role of support from leadership and administrative practices in fostering a conducive and effective environment for successful co-teaching implementation. By investigating the impact of leadership initiatives, policy frameworks, and allocation for resources related to co-teaching practices can provide insights for educational policymakers and administrators who may have an impact on co-teaching requirements in the future.

Lastly, there is a need for research that examines the experiences and perspectives of students who have been part of a classroom with co-teachers. Understanding the experiences and perceptions of students from a co-teaching classroom can inform the future development of co-teaching practices. By addressing these research gaps, future studies and researchers can contribute to the continued goal of enhancing co-teaching practices and promoting student success.

Conclusion

This chapter offers valuable insights into co-teaching practices and their impact on student success, as perceived by general and special education teachers in the Ohio Valley Education Cooperative. Through semi-structured one-on-one interviews focusing on administrator support, professional development, and co-planning, key findings emerged to inform future practices and research to improve co-teaching effectiveness. The interpretations drawn from the data shed light on the perceptions of both general and special education teachers who participated in this research study regarding the connection between co-teaching and student success, emphasizing the importance of collaboration, trust, and supportive environments. These insights highlight the readiness among educators to embrace inclusive practices and collaborate effectively to promote equity and inclusion in classrooms. Ultimately, this chapter serves as a stepping stone towards creating environments where co-teaching thrives and all students have the opportunity to succeed.

REFERENCES

- Aldersley, S. (2002). Least Restrictive Environment and the Courts. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 7(3), 189-199. Retrieved July 14, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org.echo.louisville.edu/stable/42658615
- Aldred, R. (2011). From community participation to organizational therapy?

 World Café and Appreciative Inquiry as research methods. *Community Development Journal*, 46(1), 57-71. Retrieved March 14, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44258236
- Aron, L., & Loprest, P. (2012). Disability and the Education System. *The Future of Children*, 22(1), 97-122. Retrieved July 15, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41475648
- Angelique J. Trask-Tate, Michael Cunningham, & Samantha Francois. (2014).

 The Role of Racial Socialization in Promoting the Academic Expectations of African American Adolescents: Realities in a Post-Brown
 Era. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 83(3), 281–299.

 https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.83.3.0281
- Austin, V. L. (2001). Teachers' beliefs about co-teaching. Remedial and Special Education, 22, pp. 254-255
- Banks, J. A. (1998). The lives and values of researchers: Implications for educating citizens in a multicultural society. Educational Researcher, 27(7), 4–17.
- Bateman D., Bateman F. (2014). A Principal's Guide to Special Education.

- BATTAGLIA, E., & BROOKS, K. (2019). Strategies for co-teaching and teacher collaborations. *Science Scope*, *43*(2), 80-83. Retrieved July 15, 2021, from https://www-jstor-org.echo.louisville.edu/stable/26899069
- Berry, T. (2014). Reimagining Race: Teaching and Learning in an Urban Southern Elementary School. *Counterpoints*, 434, 213-225. doi:10.2307/45177509
- Biddle, B. J. (1979). Role theory: Expectations, identities, and behaviors. Academic Press.
- Biddle, B. J. (1986). Recent Development in Role Theory. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 12, 67–92. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2083195
- Blanchett, W. (2006). Disproportionate Representation of African American

 Students in Special Education: Acknowledging the Role of White

 Privilege and Racism. *Educational Researcher*, 35(6), 24-28. Retrieved

 March 7, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/3876750
- Borthwick-Duffy, S. A., Palmer, D. S., & Lane, K. L. (1996). One Size Doesn't Fit All: Full Inclusion and Individual Differences. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 6(3), 311–329. http://www.jstor.org/stable/41824134
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development. Sage.

- Bryant, M., & Land, S. (1998). Co-Planning Is the Key to Successful Co-Teaching. *Middle School Journal*, 29(5), 28–34. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23023329
- Campbell, J., & Oliver, M. (1996). Disability politics: Understanding our past, changing our future. Routledge.
- Carr, P., & Klassen, T. (1997). Different Perceptions of Race in Education: Racial Minority and White Teachers. *Canadian Journal of Education / Revue*Canadienne De L'éducation, 22(1), 67-81. doi:10.2307/1585812
- Cook, L. (2004). *Co-Teaching: Principles, practices, and pragmatics*. Paper presented at the New-Mexico Public Education Department Quarterly Special Education meeting. Albuquerque, N.M.
- Cramer, E., & Nevin, A. (2006). A mixed-methodology analysis of co-teacher assessments. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 29, 261-274.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design. Thousand Oaks, GA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Sage Publications.
- David A. Gamson, Kathryn A. McDermott, & Douglas S. Reed. (2015). The Elementary and Secondary Education Act at Fifty: Aspirations, Effects, and Limitations. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 1(3), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2015.1.3.01

- Davis, T. J. (2021). Who Gets to Say Who is Who? Plessy's Insidious Legacy.

 *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences, 7(1),

 32–49. https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2021.7.1.03
- Dieker, L. A. (2001). What are the characteristics of 'effective' middle and taught teams for students with disabilities? Preventing School Failure, 46(1), 14.
- Dieker, L. A., & Murawski, W. W. (2003). Co-Teaching at the Secondary Level:

 Unique Issues, Current Trends, and Suggestions for Success. *The High*School Journal, 86(4), 1–13. http://www.jstor.org/stable/40364319
- Dionne Danns, & Michelle A. Purdy. (2015). Introduction: Historical

 Perspectives on African American Education, Civil Rights, and Black

 Power. *The Journal of African American History*, 100(4), 573-585.

 doi:10.5323/jafriamerhist.100.4.0573
- Enforcing the Right to an "Appropriate" Education: The Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975. (1979). Harvard Law Review, 92(5), 1103–1127. https://doi.org/10.2307/1340453
- Forest, M., & Lusthaus, E. (1989). Promoting educational equality for all students: Circles and maps. In S. Stainback, W. Stainback & M. Forest (Eds.), Educating all students in the mainstream of regular education (pp. 43-57). Baltimore Maryland: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Finlay, L. (2002). Negotiating the swamp: The opportunity and challenge of reflexivity in research practice. Qualitative Research, 2(2), 209-230.

- Friend, M. (2008). Co-teach! A handbook for creating and sustaining effective classroom partnerships in inclusive schools. Greensboro, NC: Marilyn Friend, Inc.
- Friend, M., & Cook, L. (2013). Interactions: Collaboration skills for school professionals.

 Pearson.
- Fuchs, D., & Fuchs, L. S. (1998). Inclusion versus full inclusion. Childhood Education, 74(5),309-316.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00094056.1998.10521956
- Fuchs, D., Fuchs, L. S., & Stecker, P. M. (2010). The "blurring" of special education in a new continuum of general education placements and services. Exceptional Children, 76(3), 301-323.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/001440291007600304
- Garibaldi, A. (2007). The Educational Status of African American Males in the 21st Century. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 76(3), 324-333. Retrieved March 31, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40034575
- Gerring, J. (2004). What Is a Case Study and What Is It Good for? *The American Political Science Review*, 98(2), 341–354. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4145316
- Gilham, C., & Tompkins, J. (2016). Inclusion Reconceptualized: Pre-Service

 Teacher Education and Disability Studies in Education. *Canadian Journal*of Education / Revue Canadienne De L'éducation, 39(4), 1-25. Retrieved

- August 11, 2021, from
- https://www.jstor.org/stable/canajeducrevucan.39.4.08
- Goode, W. J. (1960). A Theory of Role Strain. *American Sociological Review*, 25(4), 483–496. https://doi.org/10.2307/2092933 Gordon, S. (2006). Making sense of the inclusion debate under IDEA. B.Y.U. Education and
- Law Journal, 2006(1), 189-223. Retrieved from khttps://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/elj/vol2006/iss1/5
- Hang, Q., & Rabren, K. (2009). An examination of co-teaching perspectives and efficacy indicators. Remedial and Special Education, 30(5), 259-268.
- HARPELL, J. V., & ANDREWS, J. J. W. (2010). Administrative Leadership in the Age of Inclusion: Promoting Best Practices and Teacher

 Empowerment. *The Journal of Educational Thought (JET) / Revue de La*Pensée Éducative, 44(2), 189–210. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23767214
- Harrison, J. S. (1981). Self-Sufficiency under the Education for All Handicapped
 Children Act: A Suggested Judicial Approach. Duke Law Journal,
 1981(3), 516–541. https://doi.org/10.2307/1372257
- Harry, B., & Anderson, M. (1994). The Disproportionate Placement of African
 American Males in Special Education Programs: A Critique of the
 Process. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 63(4), 602-619.
 doi:10.2307/2967298
- Haywood, K., Brett, J., Salek, S., Marlett, N., Penman, C., Shklarov, S., Staniszewska, S. (2015). Patient and public engagement in health-

related quality of life and patient-reported outcomes research: What is important and why should we care? Findings from the first ISOQOL patient engagement symposium. *Quality of Life Research*, 24(5), 1069-1076. Retrieved March 31, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44849111

- Holland, D., & Skinner, D. (1987). The role of the learner in a sociocultural view of learning. Learning and instruction, 1(4), 381-392.
- Howard, T.C. (2010). Why Race and Culture Matter in Schools: Closing the Achievement Gap in America's Classrooms (Multicultural Education Series).
- International Legal Technology Association. (2016). Codes of Ethics. Retrieved from http://www.iltaonline.com/images/pdfs/ilta_code.pdf
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, Public Law 108-446, 108th Congress. (2004)
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. (2018). Statue Regulations. Part B. Subpart A. Sec. 300.8 (c) (7). https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/a/300.8/c/7
- Irene Korstjens & Albine Moser (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4: Trustworthiness and publishing, European Journal of General Practice, 24:1, 120-124, DOI: 10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092

- IRIS Center. (2021). https://iris.peabody.vanderbilt.edu/wpcontent/uploads/pdf_info_briefs/IRIS_Least_Restrictive_Environment_Inf oBrief_092519.pdf
- Jackson, K., Willis, K., Giles, L., Lastrapes, R., & Mooney, P. (2017). How to Meaningfully Incorporate Co-teaching Into Programs for Middle School Students With Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Beyond Behavior*, 26(1), 11-18. Retrieved July 15, 2021, from https://www-jstor-org.echo.louisville.edu/stable/26866779
- Jefferson County Public Schools. (2021). Least Restrictive Environment Exceptional Child Education Report.
- Jeffrey, J. (1978). Education for children of the poor: A study of the origins and implementation of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965. Columbus: Ohio State University Press.
- Jenkins, D. (1985). Ethical and legal dilemmas of working with students with special needs. *Elementary School Guidance & Counseling*, 19(3), 202-209. Retrieved August 11, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42868673
- Jordan, K. (2005). Discourses of Difference and the Overrepresentation of Black Students in Special Education. *The Journal of African American History*, 90(1/2), 128-149. Retrieved March 7, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/20063979

- Kearns, T., Ford, L., & Linney, J. (2005). African American Student Representation in Special Education Programs. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 74(4), 297-310. Retrieved March 7, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40026730
- Keefe, E. B., & Moore, V. (2004). The challenge of co-teaching in inclusive classrooms at the high school level: What the teachers told us. American Secondary Education, 32(3), 77-88.
- Kentucky Administrative Regulations. (2021). 707 KAR 1:002.Definitions. https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/law/kar/titles/707/001/002/
- Kentucky Department of Education. (2021). School Report Card. Retrieved from https://www.kyschoolreportcard.com/organization/53505?year=2020
- Kentucky Department of Education Division of Learning Services. (2011)

 Collaborative Teaching Practices for Exceptional Children Question and Answer Document.
- https://education.ky.gov/specialed/excep/Documents/Guidance%20Documents/C

 ollaborative_Teaching_Practices_for_Exceptional_Children_Question_an

 d_Answer_Document.pdf
- Kohli, R., Pizarro, M., & Nevárez, A. (2017). The "New Racism" of K-12
 Schools: Centering Critical Research on Racism. *Review of Research in Education*, 41, 182-202. Retrieved March 7, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44668692

- Lincoln, Y.S., & Guba, E.G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage. https://doi.org/10.1016/0147-1767(85)90062-8
- Lipsky, D. K., & Gartner, A. (1996). Inclusion, school restructuring, and the remaking of American society. Harvard Educational Review, 66, 762-796
- Maloney, J. (1994). A call for placement options. Educational Leadership, 52(4), 25. Retrieved
- from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/dec94/vol52/num04/A-Call-for-Placement-Options.aspx
- Marable, M. (2002). The great walls of democracy: The meaning of race in American life. New York: Basic Civitas Books.
- Mastropieri, M. A., & Scruggs, T. E. (2001). Promoting inclusion in secondary classrooms. Learning Disabilities Quarterly, 24(4), 265-2
- Mastropieri, M. A., & Scruggs, T. E., Graetz, J., Norland, J., Gardizi W., & McDuffie, K. (2005). Case studies in co-teaching in the content areas:

 Successes, failures, and challenges. Intervention in School and Clinic, 40, pp.260-270.
- McLaughlin, M. (1975). Evaluation and reform: The Elementary and Secondary

 Education Act of 1965, Title I. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Ballinger

 Publishing Company

- Mertens, S. B., Flowers, N., Anfara, V. A., & Caskey, M. M. (2010). What Research Says: Common Planning Time. *Middle School Journal*, *41*(5), 50–57. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23048127
- Milner, H. R. (2007). Race, Culture, and Researcher Positionality: Working through Dangers Seen, Unseen, and Unforeseen. Educational Researcher, 36(7), 388–400. http://www.jstor.org/stable/30136070
- Milner, H. (2013). Analyzing Poverty, Learning, and Teaching Through a

 Critical Race Theory Lens. *Review of Research in Education*, *37*, 1-53.

 Retrieved March 7, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/24641956
- Milner, H. (2012). Beyond a Test Score: Explaining Opportunity Gaps in Educational Practice. *Journal of Black Studies*, *43*(6), 693-718. Retrieved March 7, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/23414665
- Milner, H. (2007). Race, Culture, and Researcher Positionality: Working through Dangers Seen, Unseen, and Unforeseen. *Educational Researcher*, *36*(7), 388-400. Retrieved March 7, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org.echo.louisville.edu/stable/30136070
- Murphy, D. (1996). Implications of Inclusion for General and Special Education. *The Elementary School Journal*, 96(5), 469-493. Retrieved July 14, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org.echo.louisville.edu/stable/1001845

- Murawski, W. W., & Dieker, L. A. (2014). Leading the co-teaching dance: Leadership strategies to enhance team outcomes. Corwin Press.
- Murawski, W. W., & Lochner W. W. (2011). Observing co-teaching: What to ask for, look for, and listen for. Intervention in School and Clinic, 46(3), 174–183.
- Murawski, W.W., & Swanson, H. L. (2001). A meta-analysis of co-teaching research: Where are the data? Remedial and Special Education, 22, 258-268
- National Association of School Psychologists

 https://www.nasponline.org/resources-and-publications/resources-and-podcasts/diversity-and-social-justice/disproportionality
- National Research Council. (2003). Protecting participants and facilitating social and behavioral sciences research. Washington, DC: National Academic Press.
- Nierengarten, G. (2013). Supporting Co-Teaching Teams in High Schools:

 Twenty Research-Based Practices. *American Secondary Education*, 42(1),
 73–83. http://www.jstor.org/stable/43694178
- Nierengarten, G., & Hughes, T. (2010). What teachers wish administrators teaching in high schools. *Electronic Journal of Inclusive Education*, 2(6). Ohio Valley Education Cooperative. (2023). Ovec.org

- Perry, A. (2017, February 5). Co-Teaching: How to Make It Work. Cult of Pedagogy. https://www.cultofpedagogy.com/co-teaching-push-in/
- Pfeiffer, S. I., & Reddy, L. A. (Ed.). (1999). Inclusion practices with special needs students: Theory, research, and application. New York, NY: Hawthorne Press.
- Phillips, V., & McCullough, L. (1990). Consultation-based programming: collaborative ethic in schools. Focus on Exceptional Children, 56(4), 291-301
- Pivik, J., McComas, J., & LaFlamme, M. (2002). Barriers and facilitators to inclusive education. Exceptional Children, 69(1), 97-107. Retrieved May 15, 2005, from Academic Search Premier database.
- Powell, John A. (2021). The Law and Significance of Plessy. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 7(1), 20–31.

 https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2021.7.1.02
- Pratt, S. (2014). Achieving symbiosis: working through challenges found in coteaching to achieve effective co-teaching relationships. Teaching and Teacher Education, 41(1), 1-12.
- Rahman, S. (2017). The Advantages and Disadvantages of Using Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches and Methods in Language "Testing and Assessment" Research: A Literature Review. Journal of Education and Learning. DOI: 10.5539/jel.v6n1p102. Retrieved August 10, 2021, from https://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/jel/article/view/64330

- Rhoades, G. (1991). Dealing with Racism in the Classroom. *Feminist Teacher*, 6(1), 34–36. http://www.jstor.org/stable/40545599
- Ricci, L. A., Persiani, K., & Williams, A. (2019). From 'training wheels for teaching' to 'cooking in your mother-in-law's kitchen': Highlights and challenges of co-teaching among math, science, and special education teacher candidates and mentors in an urban teacher residency program.

 International Journal of Whole Schooling, 15(2), 24-52.
- Ritter, C. L., Michael, C. S., & Irby, B. (1999). Concerning inclusion: Perceptions of middle school students, their parents, and teachers. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 18, 10-17.
- Roxas, K., & Vélez, V. (2019). Photovoice as Micro-Invitation: A Case Study of High School Immigrant Youth Disrupting Everyday Forms of Racism. *The High School Journal*, 102(4), 267-282. doi:10.2307/26829643
- Saldana, J. (2016). The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. Sage

 Publications Inc.
- Schalk, S. (2017). Critical Disability Studies as a Methodology. Journal of the Cultural Studies Association. Emergent Critical Analytics for Alternative Humanities, Issue 6.1. https://doi.org/10.25158/L6.1.13
- SCLAFANI, S. (2002). No Child Left Behind. *Issues in Science and Technology*, 19(2), 43–47. http://www.jstor.org/stable/43312298

- Scott, W. R. (2013). Institutions and organizations: Ideas, interests, and identities (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Scruggs, T. E., Mastropieri, M. A., & McDuffie, K.A. (2007). Co-teaching in inclusive classrooms: A meta-synthesis of qualitative research.

 Exceptional Children, 73, pp. 392-416.
- Siebers, T. (2017). Disability, Pain, and the Politics of Minority Identity. In Sturm

 A. & Karāne A. (Authors) & Waldschmidt A., Berressem H., & Ingwersen

 M. (Eds.), *Culture Theory Disability: Encounters between Disability*Studies and Cultural Studies (pp. 111-136). Bielefeld: Transcript Verlag.

 Retrieved August 10, 2021, from

 http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv1xxs3r.11
- Sindelar, P. (1981). OPERATIONALIZING THE CONCEPT OF THE LEAST

 RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT. Education and Treatment of Children,
 4(3), 279-290. Retrieved July 15, 2021, from

 http://www.jstor.org.echo.louisville.edu/stable/42900347
- Stahl, N. & King, J. (2020). Expanding Approaches for Research: Understanding and Using Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research. Journal of Developmental Education. Volume 44, Issue 1. Appalachian State University. National Center for Developmental Education.
- State Response to the Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975.

 (1985). Law and Contemporary Problems, 48(2), 275–294.

 https://doi.org/10.2307/1191573

- Stewart, D. (2022) The right to education. Disability Justice. https://disabilityjustice.org/right-to-education/
- Stone, J., Sayman, D., Carrero, K., & Lusk, M. (2016). Thoughts on Dewey's

 Democracy and (Special) Education. *Journal of Thought*, 50(3-4), 3-17.

 Retrieved April 24, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/90010884
- Strack, R., Magill, C., & McDonagh, K. (2004). Engaging Youth Through

 Photovoice. *Health Promotion Practice*, *5*(1), 49-58. Retrieved March 14,

 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26735303
- Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding Approaches for Research:
 Understanding and Using Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26–28.
 http://www.jstor.org/stable/45381095
- Strieker, T., Gillis, B., & Zong, G. (2013). Improving Pre-Service Middle School

 Teachers' Confidence, Competence, and Commitment to Co-Teaching in

 Inclusive Classrooms. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 40(4), 159–180.

 http://www.jstor.org/stable/teaceducquar.40.4.159
- Stringer, E., Ortiz Aragon, A., (2021). Action Research. Fifth Edition. Sage
 Publications
- Sullivan, A., & Thorius, K. (2010). Considering Intersections of Difference among Students Identified as Disabled and Expanding Conceptualizations

- of Multicultural Education. *Race, Gender & Class, 17*(1/2), 93-109.

 Retrieved March 7, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41674728
- Tillman, L. C. (2002). Culturally sensitive research approaches: An African-American perspective. Educational Researcher, 31(9), 3–12.
- Tetreault, M. K. T. (1993). Classrooms for Diversity: Rethinking curriculum and pedagogy. In J.A. Banks & C. A. M. Banks (Eds.), Multicultural education: Issues and perspectives (pp.129-148). Boston: Allyn and Bacon
- Trent, S. C. (1998). False starts and other dilemmas of a secondary general education collaborative teacher: A case study. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *31*, 503-513.
- UNDERWOOD, J. (2018). Defining the least restrictive environment. *The Phi*Delta Kappan, 100(3), 66–67. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26552470
- U.S. Department of Education. (n.d.). What is ESEA? Retrieved from http://blog.ed.gov/2015/04/what-is-esea/
- U.S. Department of Education. (1999). Twenty-first annual report to Congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act.Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2018). 40th Annual Report to Congress on the Implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 2018.Washington, DC.

- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2021).Digest of Education Statistics, 2019 (NCES 2021-009), Chapter 2.
- Villa, R. A., & Thousand, J. S. (Ed). (2005). Creating an inclusive school (2nd ed.). Alexandria,

VA: ASCD.

- Walther-Thomas, C. S. (1997). Co-teaching experiences: The benefits and problems that teachers and principals report over time. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 30, pp. 255-265.
- Walther-Thomas, C. S., Bryant, M., & Land, S. (1996). Planning for effective coteaching: The key to successful inclusion. Remedial and Special Education, 17, 255-265.
- Wright, E. B. (1999, January). Full inclusion of children with disabilities in the regular classroom: Is it the only answer?[Electronic version]. Social Work in Education, 21(1).
- Yin, R. K. (1981). The Case Study Crisis: Some Answers. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 26(1), 58–65. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392599
- Yin, R. K., (1994) Case Study Research: Design and Methods. Newbury Park,
 CA: Sage
- Yin, R. (2014). Case study research design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Yopp, R.H., Ellis, M., Bonsangue, M., Duarte, T., Meza, S. (2014). *Piloting a Co-Teaching Model for Mathematics Teacher Preparation: Learning to Teach Together*. Issues in Teacher Education. Spring 2014. Volume 23,

Number 1.

Yudof, M. G. (1984). Education for the Handicapped: Rowley in Perspective.

*American Journal of Education, 92(2), 163–177.

http://www.jstor.org/stable/1085188

Zettel, J. J., & Ballard, J. (1979). THE EDUCATION FOR ALL

HANDICAPPED CHILDREN ACT OF 1975 PL 94-142: Its History,

Origins, and Concepts. The Journal of Education, 161(3), 5–22.

http://www.jstor.org/stable/42772958

(707 KAR Chapter 1,

2021). https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/law/kar/titles/707/001/002/

APPENDIX A

INTERVIEW PROTOCOL

- RQ 1: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of general education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?
- RQ 2: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what are the perceptions of special education teachers to the connection of co-teaching and student success?
- RQ 3: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what structures and programs supports currently in place do those involved in co-teaching believe contribute to the success of the co-teaching model?
- RQ 4: For those actively involved in a co-teaching model, what additional supports systems are needed for successful co-teaching in a fully inclusive setting?

Interview Protocol

- 1. How long have you been a classroom teacher?
- 2. How long have you been involved in a co-teaching model?
- 3. What is your perception of the impact of co-teaching on student learning through your experiences?
 - a. Do you believe that you were effective in implementing co-teaching instructional strategies? If yes, why? If no, why?
 - b. Given your experience, what, if anything, would you do differently to enhance the impact of co-teaching on student learning?

- 4. What, if any, specialized training did you receive to support your coteaching assignment aimed at student success??
- a. If you did receive training, was the training prior to your assignment?
- b. Have you have training to support your work during your assignment?
- c. How effective was your training to support student learning through the co-teaching model?
- 5. Other than specialized training, what structures and supports are in place at your school that contribute to student success through the coteaching model?
- 6. Did you find that trust and respect played a role in your co-teaching partnership?

If yes, how did you and your co-teaching partner build trust in your professional relationship to ensure student success?

- 7. Did you choose your co-teaching partner(s)? If not, how are they chosen?
- 8. How important was common planning time to your co-teaching partnership?
- a. How do you find time to reflect upon student progress?
- b. If yes, were you able to have an adequate amount of planning time with your co-teacher to effectively implement co-teaching practices?
- c. If no, how do you think common planning time would have benefited student learning? (How do you divide responsibilities between coteachers, such as grading, behavior, lesson planning, parent contacts, etc?)

- d. If you shared planning time but not an adequate amount, what were the barriers to having an effective amount of time to co-plan?
- 9. Did you and your co-teacher face any challenges as you worked together to support student learning? If so, how did you resolve them?
- 10. How do you feel that the building administrator(s) supported coteaching on behalf of student learning?
- a. What systems and structures do your administrators have in place to provide support for student learning with the co-teaching model?
- b. What additional systems and structures would you like to see your administrators put in place for student learning with the co-teaching model?
- 11. To further support you as you grow in your profession, what additional training may you and your partner need to support student learning better?

APPENDIX B

TEACHER INFORMED CONSENT

A CASE STUDY: THE INFLUENCE OF PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT, ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT, AND CO-PLANNING ON TEACHER PERCEPTIONS OF CO-TEACHING

Summary Information

The purpose of this study is to explore the ways in which professional development, administrative support, and co-planning influence co-teachers' perceptions of co-teaching and to identify strategies for improving co-teaching practices. The study aims to provide insight into the importance of these factors in promoting successful co-teaching practices and offer recommendations for improving co-teaching initiatives in schools. With a clearer understanding of teacher perceptions of co-teaching strategies investigated, co-teachers, building administrators, and district administrators will have the knowledge needed to determine where biases may be relevant, additional professional development is needed, and address gaps in educators' knowledge of co-teaching to better serve the needs of students with disabilities.

Interviews will be conducted outside of school hours and during the Summer in an environment that is free from distractions. These conversations will most likely take place via an online platform such as Microsoft Teams. The interview will be recorded via the Microsoft Teams recording feature and with a voice tape recorder to ensure thoughts are captured. Written notes will also be taken during the interview. A follow-up conversation may occur via phone or e-mail of no more than thirty (30) minutes, which will allow a check for the accuracy and clarification of the notes after reviewing the transcripts of the first meeting. Email may also be used to contact you throughout the study; however, clarification of information, as follow up, will be done by telephone as needed. If a follow up is done by telephone, the conversation will be recorded with an audio recorder.

There are no foreseeable risks other than possible discomfort in answering questions related to their personal perceptions and the potential for identification by other teachers in Ohio Valley Education Cooperative. Region who may read this research study

The possible benefits of this study may include being part of a positive impact on others within the Ohio Valley Education Cooperative and surrounding education cooperatives that also employ co-teaching strategies. You will have the opportunity to share their personal reflections which may be therapeutic and positively influence co-teaching practices within their education cooperative region moving forward. You may also feel the benefits of feeling empowered and able to share recommendations on how to combat some of the barriers with current co-teaching practices within their region.

If you are interested in learning more about this study, please continue to read below.

Introduction and Background Information

You are invited to take part in a research study because you have been identified as either an elementary level general education teacher or special education teacher within the Ohio Valley Education Cooperative. The study is being conducted under the direction of Deborah Powers, EdD at the Department of Educational Leadership, Evaluation and Organizational Development.

Purpose

The purpose of this study is to explore the ways in which professional development, administrative support, and co-planning influence co-teachers' perceptions of co-teaching and to identify strategies for improving co-teaching practices. The study aims to provide insight into the importance of these factors in promoting successful co-teaching practices and offer recommendations for improving co-teaching initiatives in schools.

Procedures

In this study, you will be asked to schedule a time with the Co-Investigator, to sit for a semi-structured interview that will last no longer than one hour. The interview site will be chosen by you but will take place in a quiet environment to limit distractions during the Interview. These conversations will most likely take place via an online platform such as Microsoft Teams. The purpose of the interview questions will serve as the basis for information to better understand your perceptions of co-teaching based upon your individual experiences as a co-teacher. Questions will be specifically related to ways in which professional development, administrator support, and co-planning have influenced your perception of co-teaching.

The Co-Investigator will record the interview via the Microsoft Teams recording feature and record the interview with a voice tape recorder to ensure thoughts are captured. The Co-Investigator will also be taking written notes during the interview. A follow up conversation may occur via phone or e-mail of no more than thirty (30) minutes, which will allow the co-investigator to check for the accuracy and clarification of the notes after reviewing the transcripts of the first meeting. Email may also be used to contact the participants throughout the study, however, clarification of information, as a follow-up, will be done by telephone as needed. If a follow up is done by telephone, the conversation will be recorded with an audio recorder. The overall study duration, including consent forms, interviews, and follow up questions should last no longer, than one month, but your time commitment to this study should be minimal. During the interview process, you may decline to answer any question that may make you uncomfortable.

Results of the overall research study will be shared with you after the completion of the doctoral

defense. Results will be shared with you in person or through email.

Your data will be stored and shared for future research without additional informed consent if identifiable private information, such as your name, are removed. If identifying information is removed from your data, the data may be used for future research studies or given to another investigator for future research studies without additional consent from you.

Potential Risks

There are no foreseeable risks other than possible discomfort in answering questions related to their personal perceptions and the potential for identification by other teachers in Ohio Valley Education Cooperative. Region who may read this research study. The possible benefits of this study may include being part of a positive impact on others within the Ohio Valley Education Cooperative and surrounding education cooperatives that also employ co-teaching strategies. You will have the opportunity to share their personal reflections, which may be therapeutic and positively influence co-teaching practices within their education cooperative region moving forward. You may also feel the benefits of feeling empowered and able to share recommendations on how to combat some of the barriers with current co-teaching practices within their region.

Alternatives

Instead of taking part in this study, you could choose not to participate in this study.

Payment

You will not be paid for your time, inconvenience, or expenses while you are in this study.

Confidentiality

Total privacy cannot be guaranteed. We will protect your privacy to the extent permitted by law. If the results from this study are published, your name will not be made public. Once your information leaves our institution, we cannot promise that others will keep it private.

Your information may be shared with the following:

- The sponsor and others hired by the sponsor to oversee the research
- Organizations that provide funding at any time for the conduct of the research.
- The University of Louisville Institutional Review Board, Human Subjects Protection Program Office, Privacy Office, others involved in research administration and research and legal compliance at the University and others contracted by the University for

ensuring human participants' safety or research and legal compliance

- The local research team
- Applicable government agencies, such as: Office for Human Research Protections

Security

The data collected about you will be kept private and secure by a password-protected computer and secured server with limited access.

Voluntary Participation

Taking part in this study is voluntary. You may choose not to take part at all. If you decide not to be in this study, you will not be penalized or lose any benefits for which you qualify. If you decide to be in this study, you may change your mind and stop taking part at any time. If you decide to stop taking part, you will not be penalized or lose any benefits for which you qualify. You will be told about any new information learned during the study that could affect your decision to continue in the study.

Research Participant's Rights

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may call the Human Subjects Protection Program Office at (502) 852-5188. You may discuss any questions about your rights as a research participant, in private, with a member of the Institutional Review Board (IRB). You may also call this number if you have other questions about the research, and you cannot reach the study PI and want to talk to someone else. The IRB is an independent committee made up of people from the University community, staff of the institutions, as well as people from the community not connected with these institutions. The IRB has approved the participation of human participants in this research study.

Questions, Concerns and Complaints

If you have any questions about the research study, please contact Co-Investigator: Heidi Zimmerman (254)-258-3913 or Principal Investigator: Deborah Powers, EdD, Department of Educational Leadership, Evaluation and Organizational Development – University of Louisville College of Education and Human Development, (502) 852-1645.

If you have concerns or complaints about the research or research staff and you do not wish to give your name, you may call the toll free number 1-877-852-1167. This is a 24-hour hot line answered by people who do not work at the University of Louisville.

Acknowledgment and Signatures

This document tells you what will happen during the study if you choose to take part. Your signature and date indicates that this study has been explained to you, that your

questions have been answered, and that you agree to take part in the study. You are not giving up any legal rights to which you are entitled by signing this informed consent document though you are providing your authorization as outlined in this informed consent document. You will be given a copy of this consent form to keep for your records.

Participant Name (Please Print) Signature of Participant **Date Signed** Printed Name of Investigator(s) (PI, Sub-I, or Co-I) Signature of Investigator(s) (PI, Sub-I, or Co-I)

Date(s) Signed

Phone number for participants to call for questions: (254) 258-3913

Principal Investigator: Principal Investigator: Deborah Powers, EdD, Department of Educational Leadership, Evaluation and Organizational Development – University of Louisville College of Education and Human Development, (502) 852-1645.

Co-Investigator: Heidi Zimmerman, Doctor of Education, (254) 258-3913, University of Louisville College of Education and Human Development, 11413 N Tazwell Dr. Louisville, Kentucky 40241

Site(s) where study is to be conducted: Ohio Valley Educational Cooperative 100 Alpine Drive Shelbyville, KY 40065

CURRICULUM VITAE

NAME: Heidi Katrin Zimmerman

CONTACT: hkzimm01@louisville.edu

EDUCATION: Bachelor of Arts in Education

Bellarmine University, Louisville Kentucky

2014

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

Comprehensive Coordinated Early Intervening Specialist Jefferson County Public Schools

Louisville, Kentucky July 2023-present

Special Education Supervisor Jefferson County Public Schools Louisville, Kentucky August 2021-July2023

ECE Implementation Coach Jefferson County Public Schools Louisville, Kentucky August 2019-July 2021

Special Education Teacher Park Hill School District Kansas City, Missouri August 2018-July 2019

Special Education Teacher Killeen Independent Public School District Killeen, Texas August 2016-July 2018

Elementary Classroom Teacher Killeen Independent Public School District Killeen, Texas August 2014-July 2016